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ASSEMBLYMAN JOHN S. WISNIEWSKI, (Co-Chair): 

Good morning. . 

Would everyone kindly take your seats? 

If you have a cell phone or a pager, if you would, please put it 

on vibrate or silent so as not to interrupt the testimony or the questions 

from the members of the Committee. 

Good morning. 

My name is John Wisniewski. I'm Co-Chair with Senator Bob 

Smith, from Piscataway, of the Joint Legislative Commit~ee on Government 

Consolidation and Shared Services. 

Today we have several witnesses who will be testifying, some 

live, some by teleconference. And some of them have very interesting 

presentations. And we'd like to give them our full attention. And after 

they're done making their presentations .-- to open it up to questions from 

members of the Committee. 

With that being said, I would also like to welcome Senator 

Karcher, from Monmouth County, who was away on a long-deserved family 

vacation when we had our initial meeting and did not have an opportunity 

to make any initial comments. I would like to turn it over to Senator 

Karcher to make her introductory comments. 

SENATOR KARCHER: Good morning. 

Thank you, Chairman. 

I appreciate your understanding of my absence a few weeks ago. 

I was on a family vacation. And when I got back, and I received our binder 

-- our very thick binder -- I was happy to see that there's a tab in there that 
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says "Karcher's Multiple Municipal Madness." And it just brought back some 

memories of about 10 years ago. 

My father was diagnosed -- he was the Speaker of the New 

Jersey Assembly, and worked here most of his adult life -- and when he was 

in his mid-50s, he was diagnosed with lung cancer. And the doctors at 

Sloan-Kettering told him, "You have six months to live." And that was 

pretty devastating news. But my father took it and said, "I need more than 

six months. I have to write a book. I have to write a book about New 

.Jersey and tell everybody how we got into this mess, and how we're going to 

get back out of it. " 

So for the remainder of his life -- he went on and lived 18 more 

months -- he worked on this book, Multiple Municipal Madness, to tell the 

story of how New Jersey developed into this Byzantine system of 
. . 

municipalities -- these lines drawn by spiders on LSD, I think, was the 

wording he used. It became a family affair. My mother and my aunts 

would take dictation from him. And I actually helped do a lot of the 

editing work. And we had some of our more vocal arguments over the 

language he was using. 

But he produced this book. And it went on, it was edited -- we 

edited it, and it was published. And he went on a mini book tour. And by 

the time he was doing his book signing tour, he was really, really quite ill. 

And he was-- One day, at the Nassau Inn, in Princeton, about 60 people 

came to meet him and to talk about the book. And somebody came up to 

him and said, "Alan, it's a good thing you're dying, because there are 

hundreds of people who want to kill you." (laughter) The hundreds of 

people being mayors, business administrators, township attorneys, auditors, 
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people who, if this vision of his book comes to fruition, would really no 

longer exist. 

So on that note, I know that this is the kind of work -- this is 

the sentiment that we have. I don't think there's people out there ready to 

kill us. But this is going to be something that's difficult to do, and maybe 

uncomfortable. But we really are at a point where we can't afford the 

government we have. And that was the driving force behind him needing to 

get this book written and put forward. 

I was a little dismayed. The tab "is there that says "Karcher's 

Municipal Madness," but it's empty. There's nothing there. And I don't 

know if that was an oversight. But I just want to assure you, if you do go 

out and buy the book, my mother receives the royalties. And she donates 

all the royalties to New Jersey Future. So you have to-- In the spirit of full 

disclosure, the Karcher family is not going to be headed to the bank on 

royalties from Karcher's Municipal Madness. 

And I do appreciate the opportunity to serve here, with my 

colleagues. And I would just like to thank you for giving me the 

opportunity to be here and to speak. 

Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator. 

We are joined by Assemblyman Gordon. 

I'd like to get right into our testimony, with my Co-Chair's 

permission. And by agreement, Senator Smith and I have decided to 

alternate chairing and having the gavel at each meeting. So this meeting is 

my turn. And at the next meeting it will be Senator Smith's turn. 
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Our first presenter this morning IS Professor Marc Holzer, 

Board of Governors Professor of Public Administration, and Chair of the 

Graduate Department of Public Administration at Rutgers Newark. 

Dr. Holzer has directed the National Center for Public 

Productivity since 1975. And that serves as a vehicle for the study, the 

dissemination, and recognition of performance measurement initiatives in 

government. The National Center has undertaken an initiative to facilitate 

the use of performance measurement in municipal governments in New 

Jersey, through the development of a Measurement Consortium. And to 

this end, the National Center is collaborating with a small group of 

municipalities to identify useful performance measures, analyze. and 

graphically display the results, providing online training, and developing a 

database for trend analysis and benchmarking. 

Professor, thank you for being with us today. You have the 

floor. 

MAR C H 0 L Z E R, Ph.D.: Thank you very much. 

Is this live? (referring to PA microphone) 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Make sure your red light is 

on. 

DR. HOLZER: Assemblyman Wisniewski, and Senator Smith, 

members of the Senate and the Assembly, and the staff, I appreciate the 

opportunity to testify this morning. 

At the outset, let me say that at Rutgers-Newark, and Rutgers 

as a whole, we are more and more committed to municipal efficiencies. And 

our latest step has been actually to convert our Graduate Department of 

Public Administration into a School of Public Affairs and Administration, 
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with more emphasis on these issues. So just a small correction that we no 

longer have a graduate department. But now I'm Dean of this Graduate 

School of Public Affairs and Administration, which we hope will be able to 

serve New Jersey's needs even more effectively. 

We've been looking at shared services and performance 

measurement for several years. And let me just emphasize what we've seen 

in the literature for several decades. Because the issues that we face at this 

time are really not new. We've heard phrases such as doing more with less, 

how resources are decreasing or remaining stagnant, we need to achieve efficiency and 

effectiveness with limited resources. In New Jersey, we've heard about small, 

inefficient municipalities, some with less than 500 residents. There's a 

dozen of those or so. Some are less than half a square mile. Some are 

embedded in 'other entities. And you're all familiar with those problems. 

And also, the number of governmental units in New Jersey -- local 

governments, school districts, special districts, authorities, counties -- some 

1,300. So we know that there's a potential for substantial inefficiencies. 

In 2003, we concluded a study that was funded by DCA. And 

we looked at shared services, interlocal agreements that have been 

experimented with in New Jersey. Some examples were: sharing of staff, 

such as a tax assessor or municipal court personnel; sharing equipment, 

digging ditches with that equipment for example; sharing internal services, 

such as an animal shelter; on-site service delivery, sharing he~lth services; 

and sharing non-site based services, such as emergency services dispatching. 

And you've heard about that in previous testimony as well. But we're just 

confirming that that's the range of things that we've looked at. 
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We found that officials in local government view those 

arrangements positively. But the savings are hard to document. When we 

go and talk to people, there are virtually no records that indicate what the 

possible savings might be. So there are a lot of guestimates. There's a lot of 

good will. And there are a lot of perceived benefits to communities, which 

are cited when we talk to decision makers. But the accounting records 

-aren't really there. So, overall, there's a lack of good information about the 

sharing of services. 

We also know that there are many obstacles. And DCA 

summarized those in 2001: opposition of unions, management; residents'. 

concerns; fear of loss of municipal identity, especially ignorance as to 

benefits of interlocal agreements; lack of documentation of real savings. 

And a' key obstacle is the desire to protect specific employees. And 

multiple, conflicting personnel policies are another barrier, as well. 

We know that informal contacts by municipal administrators 

and open communication are key to progress though. So we think there is 

substantial opportunity for progress. 

Now, we had looked at strategies for municipal efficiencies in a 

multidimensional way for a long time, particularly performance 

measur,ement, which the Chairman mentioned. 

Now, in terms of performance measurement, we think it can 

drive efficiencies if you are benchmarking your progress. For example, by 

benchmarking we mean: you set a starting point and then you see which 

direction you're going in. And, basically, does the line go up or line go 

down, depending on what you're trying to do. Let's say the service -- the 

number of serVices delivered might go up. That's what you want. The cost 
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per service might go down. That's what you want. So these are trend lines 

that we're looking at. . 

You can develop thos'e trend lines, or benchmarks, over time, 

against the municipality's own accomplisments first; secondly, against 

comparable municipalities in the state, if you want to do that; and third, 

against national data. So all of that data is potentially available. And we 

can see how well we're doing in New Jersey. 

We have been developing a measurement collection system, as 

a project funded by Rutgers and DCA. And we think that this data 

collection system will provide an easy mode or easy way of collecting key 

indicators of go,:ernment performance. We base this on the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board performance measurement recommendations, 

and also the experi~nce of various municipalities across the country. And 

we build flexibility into this system, as well. 

So we think that we'll come up with a simple system by the end 

of the year that will allow users the possibility of directly inputting data, 

either from their existing records or item by item. And the data can easily 

be transferred into graphs or charts, allowing all the stakeholders really to 

understand what's happening. And by that we mean not just the municipal 

managers, but the employees, the members of the councils or boards, the 

press, the interest groups that are out there, the property taxpayers, 

whatever. We think that all this data should be widely published. And that 

will create pressure for efficiencies, once people are able to question what's 

happening. 
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This is one example of a performance measurement form: 

We're just dealing here with waste removal. And this is probably a little too 

complicated to take a look at. But, essentially, we're saying what-­

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: It's a little small, too. 

DR. HOLZER: It's a little small, I know. 

But I'll just summarize it for you. We're essentially saying that 

you collect the data quarter-by-quarter. And then, at the bottom, it 

translates into trend lines. And once you have those trend lines, people can 

start asking questions about what's happening. We also include a space for 

comments by, let's say, the town manager or the department. 

This one deals with police. You could track the number of 

indexed crimes in a municipality. And then you could look at the percent 

of indexed crimes cleared, or those that are resolved, let's say. But the 

important point is you start tracking it. And you then have these graphs, 

that are the blue bars, that show you whether things are moving in the right 

direction. In this case, they are moving in the right direction. This is just a 

hypothetical example. But you then start a discussion about, "What are 

you doing to do this?" and "Can you do it any better?" 

Now, that's just one strategy for bringing about municipal 

efficiencies. And we think that that's the foundation strategy, because it 

then leads to questions about how you can do things better. 

Now, where do you get the answers for how to do things b~tter, 

because there are hundreds and hundreds of possibilities out there? So our 

thoughts are that the people running all of these 1,300-plus units of 

government need to tap into the knowledge that's out there -- the best 

practices that are out there across the country and around the world. They 
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can look at the International City Management Associatjon database; the 

American Society for Public Administration, which has' a . chapter in 

Trenton. They can look at the League of Municipalities; they can look at 

service-specific networks that deal with police, or fire, or sanitation, or 

public health, or whatever. They can look at award-winning programs, such 

as those published by the Kennedy School every year, or the ones we've 

done through our exemplary State and local awards program.. 

But they don't. The people running government generally 

don't have access to this knowledge or don't know wher~ to look, and don't 

look for help getting that knowledge. So there's a great untapped potential 

here. 

For example, we know that there are many lessons learned, 

guidelines you can find in magazines, news articles, journal articles, the 

Web, networks. Just doing a very cursory search on this the other day, we 

came up with hundreds of possibilities. 

One way to find those is to ask the state librarians to help find 

them. They're well-equipped to search the Web. They're in every 
. . 

municipality. And I doubt that there's a -- there are very many municipal 

managers who've actually thought of asking the librarians for help. They're 

the ones who can actually produce a lot of good ideas. You can go to the 

various branches of the universities. Universities are almost all State-

funded in this state. They all have research institutes, schools such as ours, 

centers such as ours, which are more than willing to help and, very often, 

would do it on a pro bono basis -- to identify these good ideas. 

And some of the examples we've come up with: Shared 

Municipal Services Incentive Program, in New York state; a report on the 
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Shared Services Summit in Broome County there; or in the Albemarle 

County Efficiency Report. 'We found reports in Chapel Hill, North 

Carolina; in Ithaca, New York; Manitoba, Canada. The ideas are out there 

for the picking, if anybody bothers to look. And these are all the ideas that 

can infuse local government. Because, remember, we're looking for a long­

term solution here, not just a one-shot opportunity to lower property taxes 

-- but a long-term solution, which is going to reduce the level of funding 

government needs, and control that over time, indefinitely. So you need 

.capacity building, long-term. 

Another way to do this is through professional education. We 

offer some certificates. One that we're going to offer throughout the state is 

in conjunction with this performance measurement system -- is a Certificate 

in Public Performance Mea.surement, which will be five online courses that 

anybody can take. They could be elected officials, they could be citizens, 

they could be managers. 

Another would be a certificate in business improvement district 

management. And I know, at your last hearing, you had some discussion of 

the contributions those districts might make. We think they provide a 

great opportunity for bringing other resources into government, particularly 

non-tax resources. So we want to improve the professionalization of those 

groups throughout this state. 

And then, of course, there's master's degree education. We 

offer the Master of Public Administration, or the MPA, in Trenton and in 

Newark. Other universities offer those degrees. The Master of Public 

Policy, and many, many other degrees -- depending on what the particular 
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area is -- so that we can improve the decision-making competencies of the 

people who run government. 

Regionalization is another opportunity to establish efficiencies. 

One of the things we're doing is the study to develop the 311 statewide 

system for New Jersey. This is something that we think we'd be able to 

recommend by the end of year. Governor Codey was very interested in it, 

when he was in office. We think that that will relieve the burden from the 

municipalities, by making non-emergency calls centralized in some ways. 

There are many county models in effect, developing efficiencies. So 'that's, 

you know, an established entity, and one thing that I would hope you 

would look at. 

There is also limited regionalization -- let's say the -- and I 

point to the Meadowlands Commission there. The Meadowlands 

Commission works with 14 municipalities. They have a separate funding 

stream. They provide services to those municipalities ranging from 

equipment, to help with zoning, and such. So I think they're relieving 

those municipalities of many otherwise direct expenditures. 

,The special improvement districts, I referred to, with the 

separate streams-- They often provide basic services. And you can,. I think, 

look to shifting some of the basic services to them. And they can go after 

sources of funding that the municipalities simply do not have. 

Something else we're doing is establishing' a performance 

measurement and reporting network, nationally, which we want to give 

New Jersey priority, in tenus of memberships. Now, this is funded by the 

Alfred P. Sloan Foundation. And .we're going to bring together all types of 

resources for government performance measurement so that they'll be able 
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to find whatever measures, whatever discussion of measures, they want 

there. And they'll also' be able to look at examples of how to report these 

measures. Because it's just as important to report it as to add it up, let's 

say. We don't want the data to be hidden. And there are lots of examples 

across government of that. So we'll have lists of measures, we'll have 

publications, case studies, handbooks, manuals. We'll hold a conference 

along those lines. And we'll do it at no cost to New Jersey. 

Looking at this as a whole, I would say our conclusions are, 

first, that municipalities will resist forced sharing of services, ~hich I think 

we all know. But, second, substantial efficiencies are possible if we look at 

pervasive improvements in every service area. And those efficiencies, or 

productivity improvements, if you will -- or cost avoidances -- are likely to 

be in the 3 to 5 percent range. So it's not anything that's going to, let's say, 

slash 20 percent off local government to start with. But if you start 

accumulating these over several years, then there will be noticeable and 

dramatic differences. And the property tax will not then be outstripping the 

other taxes by two to one. 

We think performance measurement will drive down costs and 

improve service delivery, because citizens and decision makers are going to 

want to see those cost lines going down. Once you start illustrating that to 

them, putting the data in front of them, they will ask the questions and put 

pressure on their units of government t~ reduce those costs. 

But, fourth, performance data must be publicly available In 

order to do that. You can't just have data that's used behind the scenes. It 

must be available to everybody who is a stakeholder, shall we say. 
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And then, finally, decision makers and stakeholders need. 

continuous access to best practices. And those are best practices that are 

offered by their neighbors in New Jersey, and that are documented 

nationally, and even internationally -- all of which are on the Web or in 

print publications, and all of which can help provide those sort of piece-by­

piece solutions that we need. 

So, overall, I'd say there's no one magic bullet, but there are 

hundreds of possibilities if we find them and we apply them. And it's all 

pushed by performance measurement. 

So, on that, I'll conclude. And if you have any qu~stions:-­

Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Thank you, Professor 

Holzer. We really do appreciate your testimony. 

I wanted to start off, and I'm sure other members of the 

Committee have questions. 

But one of the things that you said in your concluding remarks, 

and was on the slide, was that municipalities will resist forced consolidation, 

or forced sharing of services, which really states the history of how New 

Jersey municipalities have essentially reacted to consolidation or shared 

services. It's largely the exception, not the rule. There are many legislative 

enactments to encourage shared services. There are statutory enactments to 

allow for consolidation. ~t doesn~t happ~n. 

So if that's the experience, how do we get beyond that? 

Because if we accept that as the norm going forward, then all we're going to 

be doing is talking about the 3 to 5 percent efficiency that you mentioned 
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each year, which is really not going to address, in my opinion, the larger 

issue of property tax relief that the state needs. 

DR. HOLZER: Well, I mean, that's the hard question. It may 

take several years to get any acceptance of some sort of consolidation. If 

you're willing to take, let's say, the political flack for it and do what I think 

New Zealand has done -- reduce, dramatically, the number of local 

governments -- fine. I think there are efficiencies there. But that's 

something that needs to come from Trenton. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Was that a mandate? 

When you referenced New Zealand -­ they consolidated. municipal 

government? 

DR. HOLZER: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: And it was a top-down 

mandate? 

DR. HOLZER: Yes.
 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: And what was the result?
 

DR. HOLZER: Well, I think it's resulted in efficiencies. It 

takes a while to figure that out. 

One of the problems is, when you start putting different 

governments together, you're putting different salary levels together. And 

you've got to figure out how to do that fairly, and within the law. So I'm 

not sure that there are short-tenn savings that way. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: So you're suggesting that 

this is a long-tenn project that's not gOIng to result in an immediate, 

significant savings in year one. 

DR. HOLZER: It's long-term either way. There's only-­
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There's three options here. One is, the State could replace local 

property taxes. But the State doesn't have the financial wherewithal tQ do 

that. The second is, you consolidate, and then, after several years, you 

expect to achieve certain efficiencies. And that's under the assumption that 

bigger is better, in some ways. And it often is, in terms of local government, 

but not necessarily in terms of school systems, which are half the problem. 

Because the trend in school systems go to smaller high schools, for example, 

across the country. The third is that you put pressure on all of these 

systems to solve the problems themselves, which is really what I'm 

suggesting -- that you equip them, empower them, to solve problems in each 

of their couple of dozen areas. And th~n you'll begin to see some real, 

continuing savings over time. That one, I know, can be done. Because 

that's a combination of competency, and informed decision making, an 

informed public, and performance measurement, and such. So that is sort 

of a formula for it. The other two-- And then you run into questions of 

political feasibility, and such. So I'm definitely advocating the third. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you. 

SENATOR SMITH: I have a couple questions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Senator Smith. 

SENATOR SMITH: Dr. Holzer, one of your slides mentioned 

the county model. 

DR. HOLZER: Which model was that? 

SENATOR SMITH: A lot of the states in the United States of 

America, the county model is the model for the delivery of all kinds of 

governmental services. Would you describe how that occurs, and the 

efficiency of that system compared to our system? 
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DR. HOLZER: Which model were you saying? 

SENATOR SMITH: The county model. 

DR. HOLZER: The county model. 

SENATOR SMITH: Yes. 

DR. HOLZER: Well, for example-­

We're green, and we want to be red? (referring to PA 

.microphone) 

SENATOR SMITH: Red means go. In Trenton, red means go. 

DR. HOLZER: Right. 

The county model works, very often, in terms of. school 

districts. In Maryland, for example, you have county school districts. And 

I'm not sure the level of achievement there is what you want. But there is 

an assumption that a countywide system-- which you'll see in Maryland, or 

you'll see in Virginia, and places -- provides certain efficiencies. Let's say 

Fairfax County, Virginia, has a countywide school system -- 120,000 

students or so. So they can offer a lot of services, centrally, that others 

can't. 

SENATOR SMITH: How about what are thought of as 

traditional municipal services? Do you have a county model for that? 

DR. HOLZER: Yes, you have county police, let's say. 

Westchester County, Nassau County have county police. The problem 

there is that you also have many municipalities trying to establish their own 
. . 

police force. And in Nassau County, for example, one of the municipalities 

recently decided that county police weren't sufficient. And they wanted to 

go to the expense of establishing their own. So they're going in the wrong 

direction, in terms of property tax. But it shows you how much pressure 
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there is, at the local level, for local control, particularly of something like 

policing. 

In the western part of the country, you have a lot of very large 

counties with very small populations, where countywide services make 

sense, of course. And in places like Arizona, you have countywide services. 

So, often, the countywide services will work if you're doing 

something of value, across the board, to municipalities. But when you get 

to the point of local control-­

SENATOR SMITH: That's where the rubber meets the road. 

DR. HOLZER: That's exactly it, particularly with something as 

expensive as policing. 

SENATOR SMITH: All right, well, let's talk about New Jersey. 

If you look at local government services, what is it that's essential for a 

municipality to have home rule, and what's not essential for it to have 

home rule? For example, is tax collection something that could be done at 

the county level-­

DR. HOLZER: Absolutely. 

SENATOR SMITH: --without losing "home rule?" 

DR. HOLZER: That's right. 

SENATOR SMITH: How about tax assessment? 

DR. HOLZER: Absolutely. 

SENATOR SMITH: How about health services? 

DR. HOLZER: Yes. 

SENATOR SMITH: How about animal control? 

DR. HOLZER: Yes. 
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SENATOR SMITH: All right. But when you get to things like 

planning and zoning -- mayors, and cO'uncils, and local residents would 

probably say they want to keep those -- that control at the local level, so 

that they, in effect, guide their own destiny, correct? 

DR. HOLZER: Yes, but let's separate control of planning and 

zoning from the more technical side of developing -- let's say, the zoning 

map and such -- which is what the Meadowlands Commission does for 

those 14 municipalities. 

SENATOR SMITH: Well, the theory is that, in New Jersey, we 

have a cross-acceptance process, where the local zoning map is integrated 

with the county, and i(s integrated with the State development plan. You 

can argue the degree to which it's successful. . But there is a process where 

land use is supposed to be integrated and looked at from the -global point of 

VIew. 

But if you look at the services provided by local government, 

besides the four that I listed, are there any others that you think are not the 

essence of home rule or of local control? 

DR. HOLZER: Certainly, if you're dealing with equipment 

maintenance, I don't see why you need home rule or local control. There 

are lots of examples of sharing equipment informally. And equipment is a 

very expensive part of the budget. 

If you're dealing with computer systems, you don't really need 

local control. 

SENATOR SMITH: Do you think New Jersey has taken 

advantage of the potential of the Internet to -- or, for that matter, of 
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information technology -- at the local level, or the county level, which might 

result in significant savings to our citizens? 

DR. HOLZER: No, New Jersey has done probably very little 

along those lines. 

SENATOR SMITH: What do you think we should be doing? 

DR. HOLZER: If the State or the counties offered more direct 

services to the municipalities, I think that could develop great savings. 

The 311 system I referred to, for example-­

SENATOR SMITH: Yes, tell us about that a little bit. 

DR. HOLZER: That could be a statewide system, which could 

take about 90 percent of the burden off the municipalities, in terms of non­

emergency calls. 

SENATOR SMITH: Like what? What are non-emergency 

calls? 

DR. HOLZER: Somebody wants to know where to vote, what 

the voting hours are. They want to know when the office is open. They 

want to know the library hours. They want to know where to get a form, 

for example. They want to file noise complaints. Or they want to know 

where to get their passport renewed. There are hundreds and hundreds of 

questions that they might ask. Most of these have standard answers. They 

can be answered centrally. There's no reason that they need to burden the 

local offices with it, or 911. 

SENATOR SMITH: Where did you say this was adopted, the 

311 system? 

DR. HOLZER: Well,. essentially, you have a very good model 

in New York City. 
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SENATOR SMITH: And has it resulted in any cost .savings to 

New York City? 

DR. HOLZER: I think so. I can't tell you how much that is. 

But New York has hundreds of thousands of 311 responses -- a very large 

database of their responses, which takes the burden off 911. So I think you 

could safely say that New York has saved tens of millions of dollars by a 

311 system. 

We're looking at other examples around the country, ranging 

from Maine to California, as well. But 311 is one example whe!e you could 

alleviate the burden from the localities now or in the future. 

SENATOR SMITH: It would be a help, I think, to all of ~s if, 

perhaps, you could do a little follow-up work for us, and specifically on that 

question of what services at the local level could be done by a county-based 

model, and which could result in significant savings to our taxpayers. If you 

do a little follow-up on that, 1'd appreciate it. 

DR. HOLZER: Sure. 

SENATOR SMITH: And that leads to a follow-up question. 

You're doing research and assessment of municipal performance. Is there 

an ideal size associated with efficient local government operation? 

DR. HOLZER: No, you really can't say there's an ideal size. 

There's no sort of one-size-fits-all. There are-- There's a range, and you can 

certainly look at the range of the ratio ?f population to cost, or to staffing, 

and then you can start questioning the ones that are at the very high side of 

the range, for example. But there's no simple formula that works. 

SENATOR SMITH: Okay. 
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The last question and last request: We've seen, on the private. 

sector side, some very significant gains in productivity associated with going 

paperless, greater use of information technology. Would it be possible for 

you and your group to give us some suggestions on how, with regard to local 

government -- municipal government, school government, and State 

government -- how we might be able to achieve savings with paperless 

information technology systems, and some guess -- and we understand it's 

only a guess -- of what the potential savings might be? 

DR. HOLZER: Yes. 

SENATOR SMITH: That would be very helpful. 

DR. HOLZER: Yes, we'd be happy to do that. And I think 

we 'II get back to you within a few weeks. 

SENATOR SMITH: Thank you very much. 

Thank you, Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSK1: Senator, thank you for 

those questions. 

AssemblYman Malone. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Thank you very much, Mr. 

Chairman. 

Mr. Holzer, I know you tried to be candid today, but also tried 

to be tiptoeing through the tulips -- kind of thing. 

In your professional opinion, is government spending too much 
. . 

to provide the services that we're providing today, across the State of New 

Jersey? 

DR. HOLZER: 1'd say yes. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Forget the politics. We have to 

do something. 

DR. HOLZER: Right. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: And what Senator Smith has to 

say-- And I hear his angst in his comments. 

The thing is, I think what we're looking at is, we need people 

who have the strength of conviction, both in the public sector and in the 

private sector, to come to us and say, "Look, here is how you do it." We'll 

worry about the .politics side of it. I think you probably, at times, were a 

little too cautious in trying to tell us everything that we already knew about 

the pitfalls of this. I mean, I've been through it personally with a number of 

regionalizations and consolidation efforts that I have made in my political 

career. 

I just think we're beyond that now. I think we're beyond 

saYing, "Well, there's going to be pain, and there's going to be angst, and 

there's going to be opposition." The cost that we're paying, in the average 

community, for the services that we render, I think, has gone well beyond 

the ability of many people to pay, both at the local level, the county level, 

and the State leveL And if we don't come up with some kind of coherent 

plan to come up with alternatives for people, I don't know what they're 

going to do. But they're surely not very happy with the performance of the 

Legislature in coming up with solutions. 

We may have to do mandating of certain issues -- some of the 

things that I think the Senator was getting at. 

I mean, look, I live in a town of about 5,000 -- Bordentown. 

Bordentown Township has about 8,000 or 9,000. We share a school, we 
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share a sewer authority, we share a water utility, we share a number of other 

issues. There are some other things. We could probably share a courtJ we 

could-- We have about 14,000 people, and we have 40 police officers. 

I don't know. Is there a per capita basis of coming up with 

rough formulas on what services, and the amount of services that you need 

in a given population, in a given area? Given areas that are 

demographically and topographically -- and all the other -- that are similar. 

I mean, you can't say -- you know, combining a farm community with an 

urban community -- there are distinct differences and different needs. 

But if you had demographically and topographically similar 

communities-- We should be able to come up with some reasonable 

formulas as to what is needed in those types of areas, to have regio"nalized 

services. Is that something that you and your department have looked at, 

over -- on this topic? 

DR. HOLZER: Yes. We've looked at studies along those lines. 

I mean, if you hold those factors constant -- as you suggested -- you find 

that the cost of specific services might vary as much as 200 percent. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Down? I'm assuming down. 

DR. HOLZER: Well, what I'm saYing is that some 

municipalities spend two or three times as much for the same service as 

others. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Because if you have t,o reach-- If 

you have a small population, you have to reach a certain minimal level. 

DR. HOLZER: Right. But when you control, for those same 

services-- Let's say you control for the size of the population and the type 

of community. There were studies done-- And, actually, this goes back to 
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the 1970s -- the National Center for Productivity and Quality of Working 

Life, at that time -- which showed tremendous variations in cost -- similar 

communities. I would think that if you were to do that study today -- or we 

were to do it -- we'd find some very dramatic differences in costs. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: I think we all understand that. 

DR. HOLZER: Okay. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: That's a fact. 

Have you had the opportunity to, maybe, do a couple of areas 

in the state -- a couple studies in New Jersey -- since, I think, you are from 

Rutgers. 

DR. HOLZER: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Why don't we take a couple 

sample' communities of similar consistency, and do a model -- and do a 

study? There must be a national norm, or an area norm, or a regional norm 

for the number of police officers that are necessary on a per capita basis. 

There must be other kinds of factors that can be factored into a formula. 

So if you're department, maybe as a project, would say, "Okay. Let's take 

communities X, Y, and Z. They are similar. They have the same 

demographics. Everything is basically the same. They just have four 

different governments, four different police departments, four different fire 

and rescue, and all the other-- And, basically, the number of people is 

25,000. And we have duplicate services for 25,000 people, which really -­
. . 

that may service, in other areas, 100,000 people." I mean, is there a 

possibility of you conducting some kind of study? 
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DR. HOLZER: That kind of survey can be done. It needs to 

be carefully constructed, because it has to be very defensible: But that can 

be done. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Well, in-- But that's something 

the academic world would do. 

DR. HOLZER: Yes, we know how to do that. Correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Okay. And if you could come 

up with a model-- Because I really think, in talking to John and Bob earlier 

today, I think we're going to have to maybe get something onto the ballot 

quickly, and ask people their opinions about combining some of these 

services in common locales, to come up with definitive answers. Because, 

really, I think all of us know what we have to do. It's just a matter of 

having the political ~onviction to do that. 

I appreciate you coming. And I appreciate your comments. 

But I don't think you have to be as diplomatic and as polite in telling us we 

better get some legislation in place that does what is necessary to lower 

costs. And it's not just always about raising taxes, it's about being efficient 

and effective. And God knows we have never been accused of being that in 

State government or, in many cases, in some local governments. We've 

never been accused of being effective and efficient. And we've never been 

corporate models for the corporate world -- for them to emulate how 

municipalities and how the State runs its operations. I think the Governor 

has said it quite often: If this were a business, we'd be bankrupt. 

So I think we need to think about how we effectively deal with 

the issues that, in many cases, we've created ourselves. 
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DR. HOLZER: I agree with you entirely. I think we need to do 

that. We just need to do it carefully. 

By the way, the business model is not necessarily the best 

model. Great percentages of new businesses go out of business in the first 

year. Business is not necessarily-­

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Yes, but if we couldn't raise 

taxes, we would be out of business, too. 

DR. HOLZER: That's right. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: So I bet you there would be 

more municipal failures if we had to-· If we didn't have the ability to raise 

our prices every year, we'd be out of business, too. And many of them, 

within the first year. So I think the percentages of businesses would fail -~ 

probably be less than the municipalities that would fail if you didn't have 

the ability to raise taxes the way we do. 

DR. HOLZER: Well, let me be very clear. I think that there's 

no need to raise taxes as much as we've been raising them. I think there are 

great possible efficiencies out there that we're not paying any attention to. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: And I would appreciate if you 

really hone in on those, and come here, and say, "Guys and gals, these are 

the things you should be doing now, effectively dealing with these issues. 

And there's no reason for raising taxes the way we do, just to go out and 

spend more." And I just don't want to see this whole process of these four 

Committees come up with a recommendation that all we have to do is raise 

taxes, and it will solve the problem. Because we'll never be able to raise 

enough taxes to satisfy the beast that's been created. 
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DR. HOLZER: Oh, you're absolutely right. And I think we've 

hit the limit on property taxes -- probably beyond the limits. What we need 

to do is change the nature of government so that there is an impetus for 

performance, and productivity, and efficiency, and effectiveness. We don't 

have enough of that pressure. 

What I'm suggesting is that performance measurement can 

provide the pressure. And then, finding out what best practices are, is -- on 

the lines of what you're suggesting -- can help provide these solutions. 

We're not doing either one at this point. 

We'll provide a perfonnance measurement system in the near 

future. And we can also help direct people to these best practices. But I 

think we need an organized way of putting that in front of people. And we 

need a continuous stream of ideas so we don't let up on that pressure. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Thank you very much. 

Thank you, Mr. Chainnan. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIU: Thank you, Assemblyman. 

Senator Kyrillos. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.: 

Thank you very much. 

Dr. Holzer, perhaps you said this in your very first opening 

remarks. But you run, at Rutgers, the National Center for· Public 

Productivity. Can you just briefly describe it? Did you already? 

DR. HOLZER: Let me give you a capsule. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Give me a capsule of what school it's 

in at Rutgers, how many people work there, and what the mission is. 
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DR. HOLZER: Okay. The National Center for Public 

Productivity was something I established· about 30 years ago, and I brought 

to Rutgers. It's within our School of Public Affairs and Administration. 

also directed-- We have a number of projects which -- we have about 25 

people working on those projects at anyone time -- our students and staff. 

Some examples of those projects are the performance 

measurement system we're developing for New Jersey; the performance 

measurement and reporting network we're developing, nationally, with the 

. Sloan Foundation; online training to back up these performance 

measurement efforts; online training to develop more professionalization in 

the business improvem~nt districts, for example. We're doing a study with 

the Meadowlands Commission, in terms of strategic planning. For example, 

we've done studies with ~he city of Newark on how you can instal~ a 

computerized permit processing system to replace all the paper that floats 

around city hall, for example. We hold conferences. We publish journals, 

books, etc. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: I see. I get it. 

So you have about 25 people at anyone moment in time 

working on all these projects. And it's hard to segment the portion of your 

work out that you would define as -- the mission of this Committee -­

consolidation, sharing of services, economies of scale, efficiencies. Perhaps 

all of it is that. But if you had to look at what we're trying to achieve here, 

how much of your work, traditionally now, is devoted to what we're all 

about, for the purpose of this meeting, and this Committee? 

DR. HOLZER: About 100 percent. 
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SENATOR KYRILLOS: One hundred percent. So here's what. 

we-­

DR. HOLZER: It's all relevant to this. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: This is what we need from the Center. 

And I think Assemblyman Malone spelled it out very well. We need to 

know the best practices. 

DR. HOLZER: Right. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: I think all of us, intuitively, 

understand efficiencies and economies of scale are lacking out there and can 

reduce costs. We're not sure how much. You said 3 to 5 per~ent. I'd like 

to know how you came up with that number: I would suspect, over time, it 

would be greater than that. 

We know we have a problem. I think that most of the 

members of this Committee have gotten beyond the courage point of view. 

Many of us have been there. And people in the body politic -- and 

increasingly in the public, are gotten -- have gotten to the point where we 

know that this is a component of our tax. problem that we must address. 

How do we do it? 

So what we need to hear -- whether it's from your Center of 

Productivity, or somewhere else -- are the best practices. We need to hear, 

with specificity, what localities around America, counties around America, 

are doing things in a way that we would. be comfortable with and can do it 

for less money. 

And one thing I think that we're lacking at this hearing and, 

perhaps, at the future hearings -- and I want to talk to my colleagues about 

it -- is that national perspective, that learning from experience that's out 
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there, to put in context the school district situation that we have, the 560­

plus municipalities that we have. 

And so I want to ask you: Can you help us with that, if we 

can't do it internally? I'm not sure our Office of Legislative Services can 

come to us and say, "This is what we can be doing. You go out and sell it to 

the public. And try to get it done out there in the public arena." Is that 

something that your shop can do? Because we need to hone in, very 

quickly, on specific examples, specific targets of opportunity to lower costs 

and make things better. 

DR. HOLZER: Yes, that's something we can do, and that we 

want to do. I think that there's two parts to this. One is to look at the 

benchmarks. In other words, what are some comparable efficiencies and 

ratios out there? And we can find that data, I think, fairly soon. The 

second is, where are the best examples of cost-cutting, and efficiency, and 

municipal administration out there? We can find some of those, and put 

those in front of you. 

I think what we'd also like to do, long-term, is establish some 

sort of newsletter that goes out to everybody in the state, that continuously 

puts these ideas in front of them. Because it's not something that we're just 

going to solve at this point in time. But it's something-- What's going to 

happen in 2007, and 2008, and 2009? We don't want backsliding. So we 

want to put those ideas in front of them continuously and keep the pressure 

on them. 

So, yes-- The answer to your questions is basically yes, and yes. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: We. need to educate the public. We 

need to get them through this myth of so-called home rule that supposedly 

30
 



makes their life better; convince them that they can have a community 

feeling, and a channing neighborhood, and still do what the Arnerjcan 

private sector has done very well. And that is to do things as cost-efficiently 

as possible. It's not perfect, as you've said. 

DR. HOLZER: Right. 

SENATOR KYRlLLOS: But if they're not the model, I don't 

know what the model is. Because, in the main, it's doing very well. 

Obviously, there's some mistakes, and there's some human tragedy that we 

want to work to alleviate along the way. But we can learn a lot from it. 

So I would say, Chainnen Smith and Wisniewski, I'd like to see 

the Director come back and talk to us about New Zealand. 

You said they did things well in New Zealand. 

DR. HOLZER: Yes. 

SENATOR KYRlLLOS: Well, let's talk about it for an hour. 

I understand that Toronto, Canada, has done something 

significant. 

Okay. We've got to do something Significant. And we need 

some very specific direction. We need to provide it. But you can advise us. 

And if 100 percent of your work -- of the 25 people that work at the Center 

-- is devoted to this subject, this is your moment in time. This is why you 

exist and are built as an arm of the State University of New Jersey -- to help 

us get through this difficult moment in time and make things b~tter for the 

people. 

So I look forward to talking with you privately, if we should, 

and in concert with my colleagues here, to come up with some specific 

recommendations that we can bring to the people. 
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DR. HOLZER: Well, thank you very much for that invitation. 

I'll follow up on all of those -- those parts of your question. And, hopefully, 

in about a month, we might have some of those answers. 

SENATOR KYRlLLOS: Well, I think-- I appreciate that. And 

I don't want to make this request as a lone ranger, so to speak, up here. 

I think we should all talk about how we can specifically task 

'Rutgers, Princeton University, the Office of Legislative Services; the 

National Conference of State Legislatures -- to which we pay, or contribute, 

a substantial amount of money from our budget each year -- on various 

aspects of this problem so we can help lead the way down the line. Because 

pretty soon we're going to need to come up with some answers. 

Thank you, sir. 

DR. HOLZER: Okay. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator, for 

those questions and comments. 

I know for our next hearing we have someone from the 

University of Toronto coming to testify, as weil as somebody from the 

Canadian government to talk about their experience. 

I don't know that we've made any arrangements -- because I 

think the first time we heard about New Zealand was today. And, certainly, 

we have the ability to teleconference. So, potentially, we could find 

someone who could give us their experience and expertise from there, as 

well. 

Assemblyman Gordon, you have some questions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GORDON: Thank you, Mr. Chainnan. 
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Dr. Holzer, thank you very much for your thought-provoking 

presentation. 

I'd like to turn to the issue of benchmarking, because I think 

this State really has been remiss in not doing much of this at all. And, 

therefore, we can't see the direction we're going in with any objectivity. 

And, of course, we're unable to .compare ourselves to best practices 

elsewhere in the country. 

It's been my experience, as a consultant to municipalities 

before I was elected to the Legislature, I should add -- that there aren't 

many incentives for municipalities to do any kind of this -- any of this 

performance evaluation. And when you do it for them, the municipal 

officials will tell you why their community is different than anyone else. 

"We're a resort community." "We're next to the George Washington 

Bridge." Whatever. 

And I'm wondering whether this is something the State of New 

Jersey should be doing on an annual basis. DCA, perhaps, collect the kind 

of data required -- in a centralized way -- and release, perhaps, a dozen or 

more performance measures of each community, and can get it out in the 

public so that the media can delve into this. 

I know that, just in the last month or so, when the Bergen Record 

did a story on the salaries of police officers and teachers, that generated an 

awful lot of discussion in the community. 

Is this something that your organization can do? Do you think 

the State should be doing this? And do you think there's any merit to the 

embarrassment factor as a way of motivating municipalities to find less 

expensive ways of doing things? 
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The other thing I would just like to add is, you mentioned that 

the cost savings are relatively small -- the 3 to 5 percent range. What we 

haven't talked about is the quality factor. I know, just from my own 

experience, that when municipalities try to do something on a very small 

scale, they often can't find the expertise, they don't have the technical 

ability to do some things. 

For example, In a study of emergency management I did in 

Bergen County, you often find a patrolman being delegated the task of 

being the emergency manager in his or her off-hours. Someone mentioned 

that their emergency management program consists of just a file drawer. 

Could you comment on -- first, on whether there is any merit in 

trying to do this benchmarking on a large scale; and, secondly, the quality 

issues, the potenfial benefits of service improvements through 

consolidation? 

DR. HOLZER: Sure. 

First of all, in tenns of benchmarking, I think the 

embarrassment factor is very important. One of the projects we run is 

called Citizen-Driven Government Perfonnance. And I often use that term. 

If you let all the data hang out, you might then embarrass people into 

improving what they're doing. So the sunshine laws are very important, 

freedom of information is very important, open government is very 

important. Because you can then, I think, get people to pay attention to 

what they're doing. They don't want to be in the press with some sort of 

mark of inefficiency -- it's called -- or some sort of charge that they ignored 

good advice, or that they spent money they didn't need to, etc., etc. 
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So I think that embarrassment is very important. Keeping a 

magnifying on government ,-- very important. And I think' if· we were to 

start comparing municipalities in this state-- If we had the political will to 

do that, that could achieve tremendous efficiencies. 

I think, secondly, in tenns of the cost savings that I was 

estimating -- the 3 to 5 percent range -- is more substantial than you might 

think. The average productivity improvement rate in this country has been 

something like 2.5 percent. That's just measured on the private sector side. 

I know that there are studies showing that the public s.ector has about the 

same rate. Now, that's cumulative over time. It really does add up to 

something substantial. But I was estimating at something almost twice that 

rate. Because I think that once we really put pressure on local government 

-- embarrass them, if you will, with the data -- that that would result in 

substantial efficiencies. But if you're looking at 5 percent the first year, and 

then 5, plus 5, plus 5, compounded, etc., we'll get a noticeable impact in a 

few years. 

In terms of the quality issues on consolidation-- I think, given 

the example you have there-- We could actually improve the quality of 

service delivery, and the people devoted to that in tenus of specialization, 

with consolidation. There are too many municipalities out there to support 

all the services they need to support. So, you're right, people are often 

tasked with jobs that they don't ,have the training to do, or the expertise to 

do. And that's where economies of scale come in. 

So let's say-- If we had maybe 166 municipalities, instead of 

566, we might begin to get some of that. Or maybe the right number is -­

for that type of efficacy -- of effectiveness -- is 300, or 400, or something. 
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don't know which number is right. But I do know our municipalities are 

too small to support evexything that's being asked of them, particularly in 

the environment we're in these days. I .mean, terrorism, alone, puts a 

burden on them that they are not equipped to deal with in, let's say, the 

small police departments, in a sense. 

So there's tremendous potential there, if we really were to have 

some sort of mergers. 

SENATOR SMITH: Thank you, Assemblyman. 

Our next witness will be Professor John Yinger. 

And thank you for your very, very interesting remarks and,· 

hopefully, on the follo~-up work you'll be doing for us. 

DR. HOLZER: Yes. And we will follow up. 

SENATOR SMITH: We do appreciate that. 

DR. HOLZER: You can hold us to that. 

SENATOR SMITH: All right. 

Professor John Yinger is a Trustee Professor of Public 

Administration and Economics, and Director of the Education Finance and 

Accountability Program in the Center for Policy Research at the Maxwell 

School, Syracuse University. 

Dr. Yinger has examined the impacts of school and school 

district enrollment size on the efficiency and effectiveness of public schools. 

His research has approached the issue of consolidation from the perspective 

of maximizing economies of size and education. 

Dr. Yinger co-authored a paper entitled "Does School District 

Consolidation Cut Costs?" with William Duncombe, Center for Policy 
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Research, Syracuse University, in November of 2005. And this paper was 

included in our briefing materials, which we do very much appreciate. 

Professor Yinger, are you here? 

J0 H N M. YIN G E R, Ph.D.: I'm here. Can you hear me? 

SENATOR SMITH: Yes. How are you, sir? 

Thank you for being with us today. 

Would you like to present some information to us before we 

ask you any questions? 

DR. YINGER: Yes, I would. 

SENATOR SMITH: Please go ahead. 

DR. YINGER: Okay. 

I'd like to say, tobegin, that I appreciate this opportunity very 

much. I'd like to talk to you about some research I've done on school 

district consolidation, and also make some general comments on 

consolidation, based on my work in this area over a long time. 

I should say, to begin, that I was a resident of New Jersey for 

three years in the early 1970s, when I went to graduate school at Princeton. 

But I am in no sense an expert on New Jersey. And so I bring you some 

information on a more general level. And the study of school district 

consolidation uses data from New York. 

Now, to· begin, I want to emphasize that understanding 

economies of scale is an incredibly difficult problem. Any time that districts 

or any governments come together, many, many different things change. 

And isolating the impact of the scale change on the cost of providing public 

services is enormously difficult. And I will come back to this when I talk 

about some general comments. 
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But we had an unusual opportunity, in the case of school 

district consolidation, to provide some very precise estimates of the extent 

to which consolidation influences costs, in particular, whether there are 

economies or diseconomies of scale. 

The situation in New York is that, as in many places, 

consolidation continues to go on. As probably many of you know, school 

district consolidation is one of the most dramatic phenomenon we've ever 

witnessed in state and local government. The number of school districts in 

this country has dropped by 90 percent since the 1930s. And consolidation 

continues to go on. 

In New York, and -- throughout the 1980s and 1990s, there 

continued to be consolidations. And we have a data set that spans the 

1980s and 1990s, and observes about 24 districts that underwent 

consolidation during that period. So what we're able to do is to investigate 

whether the costs of a district change when their enrollment scale changes; 

controlling for the performance level, which is incredibly important; 

controlling for the cost environment, which is very important; and 

controlling for a variety of other things. 

The role of performance is particularly critical. If you have two 

districts that come together, and their performance level changes a great 

deal, then it's very difficult to isolate the impact of the economies of scale.. 

But in the case of New York, we have data on a variety of test scores -- third 

grade, sixth grade test scores, and high school test scores. And we also have 

drop-out rates. So we're able to statistically control for that and see if the 

cost, per pupil, changes when the enrollment scale of the district changes. 
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Now, just looking ahead for a minute, the great challenge in. 

studying economies of scale is that performance measures are usually not 

available. The test scores in education are, of course, controversial. But 

they're widely accepted as legitimate measures of school district 

performance. So schools give you one case where you're able to use a 

widely accepted performance measure' to account for changes In 

performance when you look at economies of scale. 

Now, what we found were some very striking results. We 

found large economies of scale, when you bring together two very small 

districts. But we found that these economies of scale are much, much 

smaller when you get to larger districts. I'll give you some specifics. 

If you were to take two districts that had 300 pupils and put 

them together, you'd save about 24 percent of cost, which is an enormous 

savings. That's 24 percent per pupil. Your per-pupil cost drops by 24 
. . 

percent. If you take two 900-pupil districts and put them together, your 

savings is 10 percent. Again, a pretty substantial savings. If you take two 

1,SOO-pupil districts and put them together to make a 3,000-pupil district, 

the overall savings are about 4 percent. And the savings then continue to 

decline. So if you are putting two 3,000-pupil districts together, you 

wouldn't get any savings at all. 

These savings operate across the board. They appear in 

operating expenses; they appear in capital expenses; they appear In 

instruction, and classroom instruction, cost of teachers; they occur in non­

instructional expenses, including -- somewhat surprisingly -- transportation. 

Many people have argued that consolidation is likely to raise transportation 

costs, because generally it means bringing students farther distances to get 
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to a smaller number of schools. But, apparently, there are savings that have 

to do with more flexibility in scheduling, and in maintenance, and things 

like that, that actually cause quite substantial savings in the provision of 

transportation services. 

So in the case of New York, we find that there are very strong 

economic reasons to consolidate, just to save money if you have very small 

districts. But the cost advantages decline so that if you have a very large 

district, you don't have a very large savings. 

Now, in some other work which doesn't give quite such precise 

estimates of economies of scale, but which is consistent with this, we find 

that the minimum cost -- size for a school district -- that is the minimum 

cost per pupil -- is somewhere between 3,000 and 4,000 pupils in New 

York. If you have a larger district than that, you actually have diseconomies 

of scale. And the problems of management and organization become quite 

severe. And it costs more per pupil in larger districts.. So we don't have 

economies of scale continuing throughout the pupil range. 

Now, let me then say a few things about consolidation and 

service sharing in general. I was struck by one thing that Professor Holzer 

said at the beginning of his testimony. He said that there is a lack of good 

information about the benefits of sharing services. And I would certainly 

agree with that statement. It is an enormously difficult topic to study. 

Mter he said that, however, he went on to suggest that there are 

some enormous savings and gave particular numbers. I was quite surprised 

by that, because I don't think there's any research that you can point to 

that gives you a very clear estimate of economies of scale, and the savings 

that can occur with consolidation or sharing of services. The research that's 
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available to us is much less formal than the school district consolidation 

study. And I think we heed to be incredibly careful. 

Now, I'm sure there are some savings from consolidation and 

service sharing, but they're extremely hard to identify. And the costs that 

go with them are very difficult to pin down. So instead of trying to be 

precise about it, let me, for a minute, say a couple of the general principles 

that I work with, that may help you to think through what the issues are. 

The first thing to say is that there are really two issues involved, 

that have to do with efficiency, when you talk about consolidation. The 

first one is what many economists call technical or productive efficiency issues. 

And those have ,to do with economies of scale. And the definition is very 

important. What an economy of scale in that setting is: it's a drop in the 

cost, per capita or per pupil, when you raise the scale of a district. or of a 
, . 

jurisdiction, holding constant the level of service provision. And we don't 

have good estimates of that in very many cases. And, of course, we'd love 

to be able to take advantage of those cost savings. Those are just pure gain 

from society's point of view. If you can generate cost savings like that, we 

ought to figure out how to do it. 

There's another kind of efficiency, however, which is called 

allocative efficiency. And this relates to the issue of local control, which was 

addressed in many of the questions. It turns out that there is efficiency 

advantage to allowing people to select the level of public services that they 

prefer. That's one of the great innovations in the American Federal system. 

We allow people to choose levels of service that they prefer. Some people 

want very high-quality services. Some people want low-quality services. 

And the ability to move to a jurisdiction where the service level is the one 
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that you prefer is a great efficiency advantage. It uses society's resources in 

a more effective way. We generate more benefit for the level of resources 

that we're using when we allow that. 

Now, many times issues of allocative efficiency must trade off 

against issues of fairness. So sometimes you allow great divergence in the 

quality of services across jurisdictions. And other times, as in education 

finance in New Jersey, there is a principle of fairness -- in this case, that the 

courts have emphasized -- that says you can't have as much variation as 

people would have on their own. You have an equity principle that comes 

In. 

And the issue of scale, both In sharing services and 

consolidation, must balance these three issues: The benefits of economies 

of scale in a technical sense, if there 'are any; the benefits of variation in 

local services, if people care about variation, which they don't always; and 

the issues of fairness that come up when you do allow great divergence in 

the quality of public services. And that framework is a very widely accepted 

framework among analysts. And I think it's one that would be helpful to 

you to keep in mind as you're debating this. 

Now, let me give some examples of how that works. Take one 

example where we actually have some good information that came up 

earlier, and that's the example of assessing. In many states, assessing is 

given at a very local level. So in New York, for example, the towns ter:d to 

do the assessing -- which is a fairly small level of government -- not the 

counties. But there is some very good evidence that there are economies of 

scale in assessing. If you control for the accuracy of the assessments, which 

presumably is the performance indicator that you care about, the cost per 
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parcel of providing high-quality assessments goes down qS the number of 

parcels goes up. 'There is no reason at all why people should care about the 

variation assessment quality. In fact, you shouldn't have variation 

assessment quality. Everybody should have high-quality assessments. So 

you have a very strong argument for providing assessing at the county level. 

A lot of places don't do that, but there's a very strong -- for whatever 

political reasons -- but there is a very strong intellectual argument for doing 

assessing at the county level that would save money. The quality of the 

services probably would go up. And there's no reason that any local voter 

should care about having a county do it instead of their town. 

Now, in other ca'ses, there are some guidelines th~t might be 

helpful. One is, I think there is some reason to think that economies of 

scale, in the technical sense, are more likely when you have a service that 

has very large capital spending. Because, when you have a large capital 

investment, the cost of that investment can be spread out over a larger 

population. If it can be spread over a larger population, you have 

economies of scale. So there often might be economies of scale, for 

example, in a water system, or a sewer system, or a highway system, where 

you have a large capital investment. 

Another principle that can sometimes be helpful -- which relates 

back -- including the assessing -- is when you have some kind 'ofservice 

where there is no reason that people should care about variation in service 

quality. So if you have assessing -- no reason for people to care -- well, put 

that at a larger scale. You might get some advantages. And you certainly 

have no losses there. 
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Another case where you might have some advantages of going 

to a larger scale, in an allocative sense, 'is if you have services where the 

benefits spill over across communities. One example of that would be 

parks. If one jurisdiction -- one city puts up a park, presuming people in 

other places can use it, or if you have one township put up a park, other 

people can use it -- that's a spill-over benefit. And in a case of spill-over 

benefits, individual jurisdictions tend to make poor decisions, because they 

don't count the benefits that go to people in other jurisdictions. Well, there 

,is a very good argument for providing that kind of service at a higher level 

of government. 

So I think" at this point, you cannot find research In my 

opinion -- that documents, in a very careful, precise way, that you will get 

savings from this kind of consolidation, or this kind of service sharing., 

Maybe if we continue to collect performance measures, like Professor 

Holzer is collecting, we will be able to do that kind of research in the future. 

Instead, we have to look for cases where there is a strong intellectual 

argument that savings are likely to occur, and see if there is a good case, to 

make for certain kinds of consolidation or sharing. 

Now, one final point is, I think, because the formal evidence is 

not available, it's entirely appropriate to look at informal evidence and to 

use that in a deliberation, For example, many people search for best 

practices. The notion of a best practice is actually, from my point of view, 

kind of a slippery notion because, many times, practices are identified as 

best practices without very good evidence. Many practices for such a 

service sharing are identified as best practices, even though there isn't 

research to establish that those practices save money, 
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But in the judgement of people who are in the field, judgement 

of people who look at services, they think that the evidence leans in that 

direction. And they're willing to label that a best practice. Well, that may 

be the best information that you have. But I would urge you to recognize 

that when something is labeled a best practice, it doesn't mean that the 

evidence, in a formal way, has been provided to establish that it actually 

saves money. 

So I think if you're looking for a magic bullet that says if New 

Jersey just did X, Y, and Z, it would save a lot of money, I don't think we 

have evidence to point to such a magic bullet. But I think it's entirely 

appropriate fo~ your Committee to look for examples like school district 

consolidation, or like moving assessing up to a higher level, or making sure 

that you have appropriate investigation of consolidation when there are 

large capital expenditures, or there are just interjurisdiction spillovers, or 

where variations in service quality is not important. If you look for things 

like that, I think you might identify several steps that, in the long run, 

would save the State some money. Exactly how much, I don't know. But I 

think it's certainly worth pursuing. 

With that, I'd be happy to take your questions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Thank you very much, 

Professor Yinger, for your testimony. 

And I'm sure the Committee has a lot of questions. I'm going 

to start off by asking the lead-off question. Your work on school 

consolidation seems to indicate that there is less cost savings for 

consolidating large districts, as opposed to smaller districts. 
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I wanted you to address that. But I wanted you to address that 

In the context of what seems. to be a trend in New Jersey of 

deregionalization. We've had experiences where regional school districts 

have actually decided to disband and go their separate ways. 

DR. YINGER: Well, it's an interesting question. Around the 

country, states have an incredible mix of policies for addressing the issue of 

consolidation. And many states have contradictory policies. They reward 

districts for being small in their aid formulas, but they also have incentives 

for districts to consolidate. 

My own judgement is that if you're looking at regular school 

districts that provide K-12 education, there is clear evidence .that 

encouraging consolidation of small districts will save money. There is not 

clear evidence beyond that. If anything, the evidence suggests that you 

would probably save money by breaking up the largest districts. I know, 

poli~ically, that runs into some very difficult problems. But as a technical 

matter, you might well save money. The evidence is not quite as good on 

that. It's not as sharp. But I think that's consistent with the evidence. 

Now, I don't know exactly what has happened in New Jersey. 

If you're talking about large school districts, maybe with 15,000 or 20,000 

pupils, that decided to split in two, that might well save a little money. 

doubt if it has enormous impact on cost per pupil. If you're talking about· 

certain components, like high schools breaking up, I think the evidence on 

that is much less clear. Whether you save money by having two smaller 

high schools instead of one large high school, I think, is not so clear. 

There is a movement in education that supports the idea that 

smaller high schools are more effective. My own judgement is that the 
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necessarily there, one way or another. 

DR. YINGER: Right. In a different study, which does not have 

as sharp a methodology, we do find diseconomies of scale starting at about 
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4,000 pupils. But they wouldn't be very large. You wouldn't have a very 

large cost savings from going from 12,000 to 6,000 pupilS. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: So you don't find the 

savings from -- if you have two school districts -- even if they're 9,000 or 

10,000 each -- _and your superintendents, and assistant superintendents, 

and transportation coordinators -- those administrative costs don't amount 

to savings? 

DR. YINGER: Absolutely not, not above-- Well, actually, let 

me look at the administrative results specifically. And I can tell you if that 

comes out about the same here. I do have a breakdown by type of 

spending. So central administration-­

Well, actually, central administration is different. The central 

administration component has across-the-board savings of quite a lot. So 

doubling the pupil size throughout our range would save administrative 

costs of about 40 percent. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: So you-­

DR. YINGER: Now, administrative costs are a fairly small 

share. So that cost savings is swamped by a lack of -- what happens in other 

parts of the budget. But in a central administration budget, doubling the 

size saves about 40 percent. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you. 

Senator Smith, do you have any questions? 

SENATOR SMITH: Yes. 

Professor, your comment about the larger districts may not -­

providing the same savings as the smaller district consolidation, was very 

interesting to me. 
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First of all, what was your sample size for your study, with 

respect to larger districts consolidating? 

DR. YINGER: We do not have large districts consolidating. 

So I do not have a formal estimate of what would happen if two 9,000 

districts consolidated. Instead, what I observe-­

I'll tell you the sizes of the districts in our study. I do have a 

table. The largest districts were around 3,000, in our study. 

SENATOR SMITH: --for your study with respect to larger 

districts consolidated? 

DR. YINGER: The-- We do not have larger districts 

consolidated. So I do not have a formal estimate of what would happen if 

two 9,000 districts consolidated. Instead, what I observed-- I'll tell you the 

sizes of the districts in our study. I do have a t<;tble; it's-­

The largest districts were around 3,000 in our study. 

SENATOR SMITH: Okay, and how many of those district 

consolidations did you study? 

DR. YINGER: There were just a few that were that large -- just 

a couple that consolidated. 

SENATOR SMITH: All right. So the-­

DR. YINGER: We did not observe, in New York, any 

consolidations with districts of that size. And so, in that case, the way you 

get evidence about economies of scale is by, you know, with a,less precise 

methodology -- it's still a good methodology, but not as precise -- where you 

look at how the cost per pupil varies with enrollment -- controlling for other 

things, 

SENATOR SMITH: Right. So that-­
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DR. YINGER: That's where we find that the minimum cost is 

about at 3,000 or 4,000 pupils 

SENATOR SMITH: All right. For the measurement tool that 

we might use, would it be appropriate to look at administrative cost per 

. student before or after consolidation -- using that as the comparison? 

DR. YINGER: Well, administrative costs are one of the 

elements of cost -- and they're an interesting element, but they're a fairly 

small share of educational costs. 

SENATOR SMITH: Well, in New Jersey, that may not be the 

case. In New Jersey, we have -- unfortunately, in some of our bu~getary_ 

deliberations -- found fairly -- salaries for top administrators that are kind of 

out of line with the rest of the universe, and benefits, as well. And it's not 

just limited to the very top administrators, it spreads throughout the 

system. There is some feeling that there is a need to control those Idnds of 

costs, and in New Jersey, the administrative costs may be a much more 

significant portion than they are in other states. 

We're planning, just so you -- for-- FYI, we're planning to have 

representatives of other states appear -- just as you are in this 

teleconferencing -- to describe how their systems work, and to look at the 

costs of administration per pupil. 

But in this state -- and you mentioned in your testimony, which 

I thought was just amazing, the comment that in the rest of the world -- in 

the rest of America, there is this huge consolidation effort. 

The person who is going to speak after you is Dr. Ernie Reocl<., 

and in his study of New Jersey, he gives the following statistic: He says that 

between 1957 and 1992, the number of school systems in New Jersey 
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increased from 563 to 626, while the number in the United States declined 

from 52,913 districts to 15,834.. So in the rest of the country you had, 

roughly, a 75 percent decrease in the- number of school systems, and in New 

Jersey, we increased the number of school systems. 

We're different, all right, and our administrative costs are a lot 

different. Our transportation costs are a lot different. We have a different 

system. So that's why I was very interested in seeing the number of 

samples -- the number of actual examples that you used on that bigger 

system analogy. 

In o~r state, we're the most densely populated state in America, 

and we're trying to evaluate what those cost savings might be. So it might 

be a little different than your experience in New York.· I certainly think the 

rural example is absolutely true, and we have some districts in New Jersey 

that are similar to that. And I think your documented savings are very , 

interesting there. 

But, for example, what would you think about a Maryland-like 

system? Where you have county-based delivery of services; you have one 

transportation system; you have one purchasing system; you have one 

curriculum development system; you have one human resources system. In 

other words, all the hiring and firing is done by a central authority, rather 

than every one of these 616 school districts providing the separate services. 

Do you think that there is the possibility that we might have 

more significant savings than you saw in your study? 
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DR. YINGER: Well, like I said before, I'm not an expert on 

New Jersey, and I don't know the differences between New York and New 

Jersey. And it's quite possible that your system is very different. 

On the basis of our study, I would say there is a possibility of 

large administrative cost savings from going to county-level school districts, 

but that the overall savings would be very small. And that's because those 

administrative cost savings would be offset by diseconomies in other areas, 

and a lack of large economies in other areas. Again, based on our New York 

data, which may -- absolutely may not apply to the case of New Jersey. 

Now, it is possible to do a study in New Jersey, with New Jersey 

data, that looks at economies of scale. The method-- Not this particular 

study, but the study that we've done using -- again, not quite as precise a 

methodology, but a good methodology -- that looks at the determinants of 

spending per pupil, could be applied to New Jersey data. I don't-- I have 

never seen a study that does that, but it certainly would be possible. And 

you could then estimate the size of district, using data from New Jersey, 

that gave you the minimum cost per pupil. 

SENATOR SMITH: Can you give us some idea of the effect of 

consolidation on student perfonnance? What's been your experience in 

New York? 

DR. YINGER: The effect in New York -- the effect on student 

performance tends to be very small. What has to happen in New Y~rk is 

that districts -- both districts have to agree to the consolidation, and they 

have to go through a fairly elaborate process of consulting with the state 

government before the consolidation occurs. And so you don't get a case 

52
 



where school districts consolidate when one of them is really terrible and 

the other is really good. 

You also do get cost savings, but those cost savings tend to be 

put toward lower taxes than they do toward greatly boosting student 

performance. Now, there are small increases in performance on average, 

but they're not very dramatic. 

SENATOR SMITH: Okay. And the historical context -- where 

the rest of America has reduced the number of its school systems by 75 

percent -- was that done consensually? Namely, like the New York model 

where two districts say, "Let's get together;" or was that mandated by their 

state governments in trying to achieve efficiencies? 

DR. YINGER: I think you'll probably find examples of both. 

think, in a lot of places the -- just the nature of providing schools was the 

main impetus. When the middle of the country was settled, little school 

districts were established. A little schoolhouse was put in every village, and 

as the population expanded, that really wasn't the model people wanted. 

They wanted services that were more general, and I think that kind of 

model just disappeared. So some of the Midwestern states just had tens of 

thousands of school districts, which -- nobody really wanted that once the 

state was more settled. 

Also, as I mentioned before, a lot of states have incentives to 

encourage people to consolidate. One of the crazy things that New York 

does is that it provides very generous incentives for capital construction to 

go with consolidation. In fact, they're way too generous, and they cause a 

lot of capital spending that probably shouldn't take place. And many states 

have done it through that route of trying to set up consolidation iRcentives 
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in their aid programs. But, as I said, sometimes they are confu~ed about 

that, and they send mixed signals. 

But I think most of the time it's been a voluntary process; but 

there may have been some states that have tried to force this, as well. 

SENATOR SMITH: Thank you, professor. 

I'll tum it back to Chairman Wisniewski. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator Smith. 

Assemblyman Gordon. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GORDON: Yes. Thank you, Mr: Chairman. 

Professor Yinger, you were just talking about New York's 

incentive system for promoting consolidation. My understanding is in New 

York there -- the state offers an additional 40 percent in formula aid for 

districts that consolidate. 

Has this worked, and are you familiar with other incentive 

systems that other states might be using that have been an effective 

approach in promoting consolidation? 

DR. YINGER: It's a really good question, and I wish I could 

answer it better. I haven't really looked at the impact of incentives; on 

decisions to consolidate. That would be-- It's a great question, and I think 

it's a very hard one to study, because the incentives are often very confusing 

and hard to pin down. 

What has happened In New York is -- the incentives are so 

generous, I think that's part of why consolidation has continued. The 

districts can really get a lot of money for building projects when they -­

particularly for building projects -- when they consolidate, and you can see a 
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lot of that in the data here. There's an awful lot of capital spending that. 

goes on when districts consolidate. 

I also know that a lot of other districts -- a lot of other states 

have various provisions, but I haven't done a systematic look at those 

provisions and tried to untangle which ones are effective and which ones 

aren't. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GORDON: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Thank you. 

Senator Kyrillos, and then Assemblyman Malone. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Thank you, Mr. Chairm~n. 

It seems like there has been quite a lot of consolidation going 

on in New York State, Dr. Yinger. Can you just recap that number for us 

for a second? 

And then I just want to ask our staff -- our internal staff -- to 

identify, to the degree they can, the reasons and the motivations for it, 

because I know that you had said that you're not certain what the 

incentives were. There obviously were capItal construction incentives. We 

missed that boat. We should have had this hearing half a dozen years ago, I 

guess. 

But what was the percentage or the number-­

DR. YINGER: Well, in the period-­

SENATOR KYRILLOS: --from what' size to what size? 

DR. YINGER: In the period that we were looking at in our 

study, which is mid-80s to the end of the 1990s, there were 12 

consolidations. There have been a few more since then. In the period 

before that, there were even more. So consolidation has been ongoing in 

55
 



New York for a very long time. I don't have at my fingertips the precise 

number, but in New York it was more like the nation than like New Jersey, 

and the number of school districts has dropped very dramatically in New 

York over, say, 50 years. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: And most of the situations that you 

have studied have been for school districts of 3,000 students and less, is 

that correct? 

DR. YINGER: That's correct. That's correct. And most of the 

consolidation in the country has been small school districts consolidating. 

And the main reason that people give is to save money -- so that you can 

share services, you can share libraries, you can share administrators. And 

that's a very powerful incentive that. has certainly characterized most of the 

discussion -- the public discussion of why consolidation should be 

encouraged. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: And the very small school district 

situations-- I think you used the example of 300 schoolhouse -- 300­

student schoolhouse; and you gave a percentage saving-- You gave a couple 

-- savings-- I just wanted you to state them again, if you could? 

DR. YINGER: Sure. Going from 300 to 600 saves 24 percent, 

going from 900 to 1,800 saves 10 percent, and going from 1,500 to 3,000 

saves 4 percent. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: And after that, you just don't have 

data for school districts of a larger size? 

DR. YINGER: In this study we don't, that's correct. But from 

other evidence it seems-- The other evidence is very consistent with this. It 
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finds a minimum cost at around 3,000 or 4,000 pupils, and then increasing 

costs after that. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: You did find large administrative 

savings throughout. And what were the reasons for the diseconomies of 

scale for the larger situations in your study? 

DR. YINGER: So that's a-- So the administrative cost saving-­

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Why would the savings go down with 

districts -- as district size goes up? 

DR. YINGER: Okay. It's a really good question, and I think I 

probably can't give a very satisfactory answer. In our method, what we're 

doing is observing spending outcomes, not program decisions. So we don't, 

for example, have evidence on the number of administrators per pupil. We 

don't have evidence on the number of teachers per pupil. We just have the 

budget information on spending in a particular category. 

And what we observed is that if you double the number of 

pupils -- within our sample -- you would save about 40 percent on the 

category of administrative costs. Now, that one seems pretty straight 

forward: You don't need as many administrators, because you can spread 

out their job over more pupils. 

But in other categories, you have large savings only at the very 

early stages. I know with two small districts, those savings disappear or 

even reverse when you get up to consolidating two 900 districts .. So that on 

net -- when you go from 1,500 to 3,000, on net the savings are only 4 

percent. Even though you still have 40 percent administrative cost savings, 

you have much lower savings in other parts of the budget, or even cost 

increases in other parts of the budget, so that the total adds up to 4 percent. 
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SENATOR KYRlLLOS: And you've identified, in your work, 

those cost drivers -- the cost increases that-- You don't have to-- We can 

research it. You don't have to give us the answer right now. 

DR. YINGER: I have a table -- if I could just put my fingers on 

the right table here, that has the cost savings by spending category. I was 

looking at it a minute ago. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: We can follow up with you. 

DR. YINGER: Okay. But it does have-- One of the tables in 

our study does have the savings by expenditure category, and-- Here-- Oh, 

that's not it. Here it is. No, no, I'm sorry. I can't put my hands on it.. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: That's all right. We can-- Our staff 

can follow up with you, and perhaps we have that information. 

And just one final question, Mr. Chairman, if I could. 

You said -- and I think the previous -- The Director of the 

Rutgers Institute said the same thing - "little data to conclude economies of 

scales." You made a general statement along those lines. There is little data 

that would help us to come to conclusions beyond 'studies .like yours, is that 

what you're trying to tell us? 

DR. YINGER: That's correct. There are a few examples. We 

have school district consolidation information from our study and from 

other studies, and there is good evidence on assessing, but, you know, that's 

not a very large share of what local governments do. 

And I know there have been discussions of consolidation in the 

Syracuse metropolitan area, and some people come from a community 

where there has been consolidation and they say it's been great, but they 

really can't establish that there have been cost savings. 
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SENATOR KYRILLOS: Right. 

DR. YINGER: You 'can't really establish that ,there are cost 

savings until you can control for performance and other characteristics that 

might influence the spending numbers that you observe. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Your overarching point, however, IS 

that there is little data in general-- not necessarily -- and therefore, it 

follows, little data to support that there are cost savings. 

DR. YINGER: That's correct. That's correct.
 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: There is not a lot of work that has
 

been done in this regard. 

DR. YINGER: That's right. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Thank you for coming on with us 

today. 

Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator. 

Professor, I just want to inject a question before I go to 

Assemblyman Malone. 

How many school districts are there in New York State, and 

what's their average size? 

DR. YINGER: So there are something like 900 school districts 

in New York, and the range-- There is one school district of a little more 

than I million pupils, and the next one is 50,000, which is Buffalo, and 

then the typical district is in the 5,000 to 10,000 pupil range. There are 

quite a few small rural districts, as well. So there are some districts with 

several hundred pupils, but most of those have been consolidated. So I 
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think, you know, a typical district would be a few thousand pupils, except 

in the cities where it might be 10,000. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Thank you. 

Assemblyman Malone. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Thank you very much, Mr. 

Chairman. 

Professor Yinger-- Let me turn the button on here. (referring 

to microphone) Do you have any data that tells us what the effective size 

of a school is population-wise? 

DR. YINGER: Again, what we find is that the size of a school 

district with minimum cost is about 3,000 pupil.s. We don't have a study 

that tells you the same" information for an individual school. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: See, because there is a difference 

between the size of the school-- People are associating the size of the school 

with the size of the district. I mean, we have -- we have actually 20-plus 

school districts that have no schools at all. I mean, as ridiculous as that 

may sound, we have-- In my own Legislative District, I have seven or eight 

K-to~6 school districts, which really have just one school. And I have school 

districts with a population of 80. 

So in trying to look at those kinds of numbers, I don't know if 

you have anything that is similar, in New York, to those kinds of situations. 

Do you have K-to-6 districts in New York? 

DR. YINGER: We have a few -- a few of those, but mostly the 

districts are K-12, and I don't know of any districts that don't have schools. 

Maybe I've missed that one. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: We're New Jersey. (laughter) 
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DR. YINGER: It is pretty unusual. 

I have to say that the question of size of school is a very good 

question, but it's both a very different set of challenges to study and a very 

different set of institutions to address. Because, of course, the size of the 

school is controlled by the school district and the decisions they make; 

whereas, the size of the school district is determined by state policy. And 

the State may want to try and influence the size of schools, but the 

mechanisms for doing that are very different. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Do you kno~ what the average 

household pays in New York State for their school taxes? 

DR. YINGER: I don't have that number at my fiDgertips, but 

taxes in -- property taxes in New York are very high, as they are in New 

Jersey. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Do you know what the pupil 

cost range is per student in New York? In New Jersey, it ranges from 

$6,000 to close to $20,000 a student, depending on the school district. 

DR. YINGER: I think you would have a pretty similar range in 

New York -- a very similar range. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Do you know, offhand, what the 

total amount of State aid is that's provided by the state of New York to all 

school districts? 

DR. YINGER: Yes, ,well the state aid in New York is usually 

just short of 40 percent of the cost of schools -- the lower-than-typical state. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Pardon? 
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DR. YINGER: Which is lower than the amount-- A typical 

state -- the average state's about 50 percent. So in New York it's about 40 

or 39 percent, something like that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Is there some way of getting a 

definitive answer as to how much the state of New York puts into state aid 

for their school districts? Who might have that answer? The treasurer in 

New York, or-­

DR. YINGER: Well, if you go to the census you can get 

·information on the breakdown of who pays how much. Now, that might be 

lagged a year. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Because we-- Basically, in our-­

DR. YINGER: If you would send me a specific question, I 

might be able to provide the data for you from AEFA (phonetic spelling), 
. . 

because we do have the latest data here at Syracuse. And I could give you 

an exact number if you would like to see it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Yes, because the State portion in 

New Jersey is about $10 billion, that we give to our school districts in State 

aid, and that's not including capital aid. So I would think that New York 

might have a similar kind of statistic or number. 

DR. YINGER: Yes, it's more like $15 billion or $16 billion in 

New York. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Okay. Thanks. 

And what's the total school population in New York? Do you 

know that offhand? 

DR. YINGER: Let's see, it's something like 2.5 million pupils, 

maybe 3 million, somewhere in that range. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Okay. 

Mr. Chairman, thank you very much. 

Professor Yinger, thank you very much. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: AssemblYman Malone, 

thank you very much. 

Do any other members of the Committee have any other 

follow-up questions? (no response) Okay, seeing none-­

Professor, thank you for your testimony very much. We 

appreciate you taking the time today to be 'with us. There were some 

questions asked by members, and you said that you would potentially get 

some follow-up information. If you could supply that through our staff, we 

would be very appreciative. 

DR. YINGER: Okay. Well, thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Okay, our next and final 

presenter this morning will be Professor -- Dr. Ernest Reock, Professor 

Emeritus from Rutgers University. The Professor has done quite a bit of 

study on the cost impact of school district creation and consolidation in 

New Jersey., 

Professor, we welcome your presentation this morning. Thank 

you. 

ERN EST C. REO C K JR. Ph.D.: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, 

members of the Committee. And thank you, generally, for asking me to 

appear before you. 

I think the major reason I was asked to testify is that a little 

over 10 years ago I did some studies on the potential cost savings from 

school district consolidation in New Jersey. There were three' research 
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papers that were prepared. One was called, "The Cost Impact .of School 

District Creation and Consolidation in New Jersey." That was published in 

March 1995. 

In July 1995, I used the data from that first paper to put 

together what was called, "A Plan for School District Consolidation in New 

Jersey." Both of those were published by the Center for Government 

Services at Rutgers, and they are both reproduced on your Committee Web 

site. 

Then in 2003, I was asked to update the second of those 

papers, which I did, and I think that it has not been put on the Web site 

yet. I have brought about 10 copies of it for you this morning. And I 

understand that it probably will be put on the Web site in the near future. 

Let me give you just a little bit about the origin of those papers. 

I retired in 1992 from the University faculty, where I was the Director of 

the Center for Government Services, and I was doing some voluntary 

research work for the Education Funding and Review Commission at that 

time -- a State Commission that was examining State aid formulas. 

And one day at that Commission, I went to lunch with one of 

the Commission members and he said, if we could just reduce the number 

of school districts in New Jersey, we could save millions and millions and 

millions of dollars. My off-the-cuff reaction was, I don't think so, but then· 

I realized I didn't have any data at all ,to come to a conclusion. So after 

that work with the Funding Commission was completed, I decided to try to 

look into the subject a little bit, and that is where these papers have come 

from. 
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The research I did is considerably less sophisticated than the 

work that you have heard about at Syracuse. On the other hand, it has. the 

advantage of using New Jersey data. It aims strictly at the cost per pupil in 

school districts. I did not give any attention to school -- to student 

performance in that paper. 

What I did was to identify all of the changes in a school 

district's organization between 1957 and 1992 that either increased the 

total number of school districts, which I called "school district creation," or 

decreased the number of school districts in the state, which I generally 

called, "school district consolidation." 

In each of these changes-- I found about 50 cases in that 

period between 1957 and 1992. In each case where a change was made, I 

calculated the· expenditures per pupil for all of the districts involved, in the 

fourth year before the change was made, relative to the rest of the state. In 

other words, what were those districts, as a group, spending per pupil 

compared with what the rest of the districts in the state were spending. 

And then I looked at the same data four years after the change was made -­

compared the expenditures per pupil relative to the rest of the state. 

The findings that I came up with-- There were 43 cases where 

the number of districts -- the number of school districts -- actually 

increased. That was usually through the creation of a limited-purpose high 

school or regional district. If you left the K-6 districts or K-8 di~tricts where 

they were, you created a third -- another layered district -- a regional high 
\ 

school district which encompassed the students from these elementary 

school districts. 
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Of those 43 cases where we created an additional school 

district, I found that in 41 there were increases in the expenditures per 

pupil compared with the rest of the state. As a whole, for those 43 cases 

where we increased the number of school districts, the cost per pupil rose by 

an average of about IS percent. 

Then I looked at what, unfortunately, was a very few cases 

where we have consolidated school districts during this period from 1957 to 

1992. I found, really, only six cases that I could use -- only six cases where I 

could get the financial data to make an analysis. 

In those six cases, three of -- they broke, really, three an~ three .. 

Three of those cases where we consolidated school districts were very 

wealthy districts. And when I looked at what happened in those places, I 

found that in the case of wealthy districts, the cost actually increased after 

they consolidated. 

In the three moderate-wealth districts, expenditures per pupil 

declined by an average of about 8.3 percent. And I have to say that I was 

encouraged by finding this morning that that 8.3 percent fits pretty well 

within the range of what Professor Yinger found in the Syracuse study. 

found that in moderate-wealth districts the expenditures in New Jersey 

declined by an average of 8.3 percent. 

As a whole, those six district six districts reduced their 

expenditures relative to the rest of the state by 1.5 percent. Now, the 

unfortunate part about this, which underlies almost everything I'm going to 

say, is that there were only six districts, and only three of them that were 

moderate-wealth districts. I felt that I could use that result for the 

moderate-wealth districts to make, at least, a rough estimate of what might 
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happen in the rest of the state, because most of our districts are moderate 

wealth. There are only-­

The three districts that were high wealth were Princeton -­

Princeton Regional; Chatham Regional; and Morristown -- Morris 

Township which -- or the Morris School District. Those are very unusual 

districts within the context of New Jersey regional schools. That was what I 

found in the first paper -- Paper No.1. 

Then I decided, maybe I can use this -- these results to get some 

rough idea of what we might possibly say in dollars if I applied this to a 

plan of a regionalization throughout the state. The plan that I tried it on, it 

was an attempt to keep disruption to a minimum. In other words, school -­

existing school districts have sorted. ~hemselves out in terms of being 

members of region~ls or in terms of sending their pupils-- If t~ey're not 

large enough to run a high school, they send their pupils somewhere and 

pay tuition for them; so that there are patterns of geographic association 

which districts have developed over the years. 

And I said to myself, why not try to make use of that so there 

would be the least possible disruption of students and of teachers through a 

plan of statewide consolidation? The plan then, following from that, 

followed these lines: For each-- Wherever there is a limited-purpose high 

school region -- a 7-12 or a 9-12 regional -- the proposal is that would be 

expanded to become a full K-12 regional, and the existing K-6 and the K-8 

districts would be eliminated. 

Secondly, where we had the situation of a K-12 district which 

runs a high school and is now the principal receiving district for K-6 or K-8 

districts who send their pupils there to the high school on a tuition basis, 
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that 1(-12 high school would become the nucleus of a new regional district. 

And the existing K-6 and K-8 districts would be eliminated. 

See, you've got a typo here in the outline. (referring to paper) 

It would be the K-6 and the K-8 districts that would be eliminated. 

The result would be a plan for the entire state, in which no 

teachers or pupils would be moved, at least initially; in which the plan 

would only consolidate the school district offices. In other words, it's a plan 

of school district consolidation, not school consolidation. Any further 

consolidation of schools or classes would be up to the regional board -- the 

regional board of education that would be formed. 

Applying the cost saving percentages.. that I found in the first 

paper, to this plan in the second paper, you get these results. First of all, an­

districts in the state' would offer full' K-12 programs in the future. The 

number of school districts would drop from 574 to 264. The average size of 

a district would rise from 2,066 pupils to 4,106 pupils. That would be 

compared with a national average of 3,120. 

I'm quoting figures from Paper No.3, which is an update of 

Paper No.2. 

In terms of the estimated cost savings -- and I've approached 

this in two different ways. One, is the cost in terms of administrative 

expenditures. And here, I used data from two separate analyses that were 

made -- that have been made of expenditures for administrative costs !rom 

other sources. One, was-­

When I did Paper No.2, the only thing I had available was a 

1994 Eagleton Institute paper, which provided information on the 

expenditure per pupil for school districts at various population sizes -­
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population of students. When I got to the 2003 paper,. I then had data 

from the Depart'ment of Education Comparative Spending Guide, 'and I used 

that data. 

But when I put that into the pattern -- the new pattern of 

districts that I suggested, I found an estimated cost savings on 

administrative expenditures -- and this is in 2002/2003 dollars -- an 

estimated savings of about $65 million a year, statewide. 

I think that is a fairly good guess, really, at what we might save 

in terms of administrative cost savings if we did fo1l9w this pattern of 

reducing the number of school districts from 574 to 264. 

In terms of any overall expenditures, say --. an overall 

expenditure saving-- In other words, going beyond the administrative cost, 

here I went back to my 8.3 percent savings that I found in overall costs in 

those three moderate-wealth K regionals that I reported on in Paper No.1. 

And there, applYing it to the pattern in 2003, I came up with a very 

imprecise and very speculative figure of $365 million a year, including the 

administrative, cost savings. That is my guess as to what we might be able 

to save if we did reduce the number of school districts into the pattern that 

I have suggested. 

This savings would almost certainly -- most of it would be 

realized only through the consolidation of schools and classes at some time 

in the future, after we have thi~ pattern of districts in existence. And it 

could most easily take place during a period of enrollment decline. 

Actually, we had enrollment decline in New Jersey for about 17 years, 

between 1972 and 1989. That was the time when we could have made 

some real savings with larger school districts, I think. 
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Further caveat: There may well be some unexpected costs of 

consolidation, and the most 'obvious one that pops out is salary scales. 

When you put two school districts together, you're going to have to do 

something to integrate the salary scales. And you almost inevitably will 

integrate them upward to the higher salary scale, rather than making people 

take salary cuts or take salary freezes. 

I think there is some nonbudget advantages of consolidation. 

First of all, a consolidation of this size would create school districts with 

-broader, more stable local property tax bases, and there would be some 

equalization of tax rates in the two. 

In Papers ~o. 2 and 3, I tried to make some estimate of what 

that would do in terms of equalizing tax rates. There is the possibility that 

by giving local school distz:icts a broader tax base, it might -be pOSSible to 

provide -- to make some reduction in the demand for State school aid. 

That's-- I was also pretty speculative, but I think the possibility is there. 

Secondly, in terms of a nonbudget advantage -- a nonfiscal 

advantage -- we would create a full K-12 system. And in my conversations 

with people who are in elementary and secondary education, a number of 

them endorsed the idea that having students in a full K-12 system has some 

educational advantages in terms of integrating curriculum for students 

through their full career in school. 

There are obvious downsides of consolidation. There will be 

some winners and there will some losers, financially. That is probably the 

reason why we've had so few consolidations in the past. And there will be 

some perceived threat to local control. The way I express it is: While the 
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fish might remain the same size, the ponds are going to become bigger if 

you consolidate into larger school districts. 

The bottom line of what I've done, in my opinion, is that it 

appears that there are some potential cost savings that could be made 

through the consolidation of school districts, especially in administrative 

costs. Whether this is large enough to justify the tunnoil and disruption 

involved is open to some serious question. 

Now, those last couple of remarks may be considered a little 

too negative. Let me just wind up with a little bit of history. In 1893, the 

State Superintendent of the Public Instruction -- this is 1893 -- he reported 

to the Legislature that there were 1,395 school districts in New Jersey. 

Three years later, in 1896, he reported that there were only 376 school 

districts in New Jersey. That was all done -- it was all mandated through 

one piece of legislation: Chapter 335 of the Laws of 1894, cut the number 

of school districts from 1,395 to 376. 

Now, there is a little bit of a downside to that. That law had a 

loophole in it that said, if you are a school district -- your existing school 

district serves an incorporated municipality, has boundary lines the same as 

the incorporated municipality -- you can keep that school district that you 

had, if it was one of the 1,395. With a result that, between 1893 and 

1896, we had 61 new municipalities created in New Jersey. (laughter) 

I hope that gives you a little historical context to it. It does say 

that consolidation is possible. There is precedent for it. It has happened, 

but a lot of people are disturbed by it, and they will go to any lengths they 

can to avoid it. 

Thank you. I'd be happy to try to answer questions. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Professor. 

Thank you for your testimony. 

One of the issues that is recurring in the testimony that we 

heard today is the idea of local control. And you just concluded your 

remarks by saying that in tenns of forced consolidation or regionalization -­

that there is opposition to it. 

In your studies in your research, what is it about local 

control? First of all, is it a real concept or is it a perception that our 

constituents have about what they are able to control? Many .of the items 

that school districts address are addressed by edicts that come out of this 

Legislature, not decisions that are made locally. So if you could just explain 

that a little bit? 

DR. REOCK: I think it's a perception, but I think you can say 

that perception is reality. If they think that they have something now that 

will be reduced in the future, their tendency will be to oppose a change. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Thank you. 

Senator Smith. 

SENATOR SMITH: No. Yes. (laughter) 

First, let me sing your praises if I might, Professor. Not only 

have you made a contribution on this issue of school consolidation or 

district -- rather school district consolidation -- and you made the' 

distinction very aptly -- but also your book, Unfinished Business, is a pleasure 

to read. It's about the fonnation of the 1947 Constitution, and for those 

people who are into Constitutional Conventions, it is absolutely must­

reading. It is a very, very interesting book about New Jersey pOlitics. 
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With regard to school district consolidation, I have had a. 

chance to review both your earlier work and the update in 2003. The 8.3 

percent savings that you described with regard to what would be most of 

the districts in the state -- moderate, moderate districts -- not those of great 

wealth or those that would be considered poor -- that 8.3 percent is across 

the board on educational expenditures? It wasn't just the administrative 

side? 

DR. REOCK: That's right. That includes the administrative 

savings. 

SENATOR SMITH: That included the administrative sayings. 

DR. REOCK: Yes. 

SENATOR SMITH: All right. Just a question about the -­ our 

mathematics here. We're spending about $20 billion a year on primary and 

secondary education in New Jersey. If we did the consolidation-- If I 

multiply 8.3 percent times $20 billion, I get roughly about $1.6 ·billion·, as 

opposed to $365 million. Where is my math in jeopardy? 

DR. REOCK: No, the 8.3 'would .only be applied to the 

districts that were consolidated. 

SENATOR SMITH: I see. 

DR. REOCK: See, there would be -- I forget the number now, 

but of the 270-some districts that would result-­

SENATOR SMITH: From-­

DR. REOCK: --about half of them already exist as K-12 

districts. 

SENATOR SMITH: Right. 

DR. REGCK: They would not be effected at all. 
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SENATOR SMITH: Right. And your study was based on that 

assumption. That is, the incorporation of each limited-purpose high school 

district into an all-purpose regional high school district, incorporating each 

elementary sending district into a receiving school district. So that was the 

basic assumption of your school district consolidation. 

DR. REOCl(: That's right. 

SENATOR SMITH: Would it be fair to say that the savings or 

efficiencies associated with school consolidation really comes down to the 

details of the consolidation? In other words, how it's' done? And what I'm 

saying is -- I'm not challenging your figures, but it's based on the 

assumption of how you did the school district consolidation? 

DR. REOCl(: Oh, yes. Yes, it's based on the plan that I used 

to try to come up with a dollar figure statewide. 

SENATOR SMITH: Absolutely. 

DR. REOCl(: And if we were to consolidate, let's say, down to 

100 districts or down to 21 county districts, you would get different dollar 

figures. 

SENATOR SMITH: Exactly. And that-- I think both· of these 

studies that you did move the ball forward in terms of understanding the 

problem, but at the end of the day if we're going to do something with 

school systems, it's going to be a function of what we do -- the amount of 

the savings will be a function of what we do. 

Let me throw at you one of the ideas that is being discussed. 

And we have, hopefully, people from Maryland coming in, in the near 

future -- Toronto, Pennsylvania -- to talk about their systems. And many 

systems in this country are substantially different. 
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I think it is 11 or 12 states that have county-based delivery of 

educational services, and probably the one that is most analogous to New 

Jersey is Maryland. There they have 24 -- I think they have a total of 24 

districts, of which 21 are county districts, and then there are 3 urban 

districts that are rather large districts. 

But what happens with these county-based districts in those 

states IS that they. have consolidated purchasing -- the county is the 

purchasing department; they have consolidated curriculum development; 

they have consolidated human resources. 

In other words, instead of New Jersey having 600 districts 

hiring and firing, the 21 counties would do all the hiring and firing. Instead 

of having 600 lawyers or 600 law firms representing the school systems, 

there would he 21. Instead of having 600-plus superintendents, 600-plus 

business administrators, there would be the 21 -- or whatever the number 

was. 

So is it conceivable that the potential efficiencies in that kind of 

a system could be greater than the savings associated with the model that 

you used in the 1990s and in 2003? 

DR. REOCK: I would think so, yes. 

SENATOR SMITH: Okay. Transportation, as well, just 

another example-­

DR. REOCK: Transportation, maybe yes, maybe n? You still 

have to go from point to point-­

SENATOR SMITH: Right. 

DR. REOCK: --with a s~udent, and that would probably only 

change if-- That would only get a cost savings if you were able to 
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consolidate schools. You might -- you might have some transportation 

savings. 

SENATOR SMITH: Right. To be determined. 

"DR. REOCK: Yes. 

SENATOR SMITH: And that is something we're going to take 

a look at. 

Do you think if we did something as -- a significant school 

district consolidation, that there may be a way to retain the identity of the 

existing school district? 

For example, Dunellen, New Jersey -- I think it .has a. 

population of 6,000 people, and it probably has maybe 1,000 students in 

the district. But I'm sure there is a "lot of pride in the Dunellen football 

team, all right? Would it" be possible in a -- in some form of countYWide 

administrative consolidation to perhaps take the administrative functions 

and centralize them -- like purchasing, like transportation, like human 

services, like legal -- but yet have the Dunellen schools be separate, but with 

a significantly reduced administrative structure? Do you think there is a 

way to do that? 

DR. REOCK: I think that is feasible. 

SENATOR SMITH: All right. And do you think that might 

satisfy some of the home rule concerns of the people at the local level? 

DR. REOCK: It would ameliorate them to some extent, yes. 
. " 

SENATOR SMITH: I appreciate so much the work that you 

have done for New Jersey in your two prior studies, and I hope we can 

count on you if we need some information or any analysis. 

DR. REOCK: Certainly. 
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SENATOR SMITH: Thank you.
 

Thank you, Mr. Chainnan.
 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator Smith.
 

AssemblYman Malone.
 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Thank you very much, Mr.
 

Chairman. 

And Dr. Reock, I had the privilege of working with you when 

we did a study back in 1999 on this very same topic. 

In your comments that you made -- we tal~ed about the -- do 

you have any idea of how many or what the list is of the new schools that 

were created over the last 25 y"ears? And if you don't, where I might be able 

to get that list? 

DR. REOCK: You mean the new school districts? . 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: New school districts, right. 

DR. REOCK: Yes. In Paper No.1, I think I list all of the 

districts that I looked at -- all of the ones -- both the new districts that were 

created and the ones that were consolidated. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Were they primarily just a 

consolidation of the sending districts, sending into an established school, 

rather than just something that just popped up? They were generally 

constituent-­

DR. REOCK: Generally, they followed the existing 

relationships -­ the existing lines, yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: So they went from-­

DR. REOCK: And in many-- Well, remember, there were only 

six consolidations in this whole period. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Okay, because an example-­

DR. REGCK: There were 43 creations of new school districts. 

ASSEMBLYMAN. MALONE: For example, I can give you my 

own example of Bordentown. Bordentown had its own high school, and 

they had-- Then they consolidated into Bordentown Regional, and they 

took in Bordentown Township, Bordentown City, and Fieldsboro. And that 

was, basically, a new school district that was fonned within this time frame. 

And I don't think we have new-- It's actually a shrinking, in some ways,'of 

.schools, because you-- What you did was, you split up people who were 

having K-12 -- but a sending relationship -- into just a 9-12 regional system. 

DR. REDCK: Yes, that's right, and Bordentown was one of 

those moderate-wealth districts that I used in the study. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: The cost shifting that you talked. 

about in some cases -- really, did the K-12 district, with no high school, that 

had the sending relationship-- Actually, some of the costs were actually 

shifted over to that new regional, I would assume? 

DR. REDCK: Oh, yes, they would be. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Okay. So, in essence, if a 

regional was in existence and they took in a sending district -- by its very 

nature, would increase its costs, of that-­

DR. REDCK: Well, it would, but not in my analysis, because I 

considered what the costs were for the multiple districts that existed before 

that, versus what the cost was for the new regional district four years after. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Yes, but did you take into 

account the cost decrease to the old district, because they went from a-­

DR. REOCK: Well, the old district disappeared. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: No, no. Well, in some cases -­

where they just formed a regional high school. 

DR. REOCK: Oh. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: If you went from a K-12 with no 

high school, and then they went to a K-6, they, in essence, lopped off a 

basic part of the K-6 budget. 

DR. REOCK: Yes, well the expense would be over in the high 

school district-­

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Right. 

DR. REOCK: --rather than the elementary district. 

AS?EMBLYMAN MALONE: I just think that-- Following up 

on the Senator's comments, 1 think that we really have to look at what you 

have done, and really give some people some opportunities to think about 

this. One of the major reasons I think that Union County split up their 

regional had to do with the football team. 

DR. REOCK: Right. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: And I think that some of the 

proprietary nature of communities and other issues -- if we can keep 

people's community sense whole, but yet offer them an opportunity to 

regionalize without disrupting the community nature of their schools, I 

think we can go a long way In dispelling some of the resistance to 

regionalization or consolidation. Because it really is -- it is a perception that 

has turned perception into reality. 

And I just think that just some of costs are so staggering, as you 

well know, in what we're now spending for school districts. There has to be 
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something done, and I would appreciate your continued assistanc~ and your 

advice and your counsel, and just tell it like it is. 

DR. REOCK: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Thank you very much, Mr. 

Chairman. 

Thank you, Dr. Reock. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Thank you, Assemblyman. 

Senator Kyrillos. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Thank you very much. 

You know, I find myself encouraged and agreeing with the lines 

of questioning I've heard from both Senator Smith and Assemblyman 

Malone. 

I want to thank you for your contributions to the State 'over a 

long, long period of time, and for your work that you described today; 

which I think, at one point, you tried to couch -- or apologize for some 

words of, perhaps, discouragement or conservatism in terms of your 

optimism as to what can be achieved. But I think there is a lot of reason for 

encouragement. 

You point out, I think, about $365 million in savings, which -­

which was a few years back, and really came from tinkering -- and tinkering 

is the wrong word, because it's more than tinkering -- dealing with half of 

the school districts in the state. 

We should be clear to everybody who is listening and people 

who will read about today's hearing that, in your study, those districts that 

were already K-12 school districts weren't looked at. 
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And as I look at the lists of school districts around the state,. 

and especially the ones I'm familiar with, Dr. Reock -- relatively small 

school districts in Monmouth County, in Middlesex County, and I'm sure 

there are examples across the state -- there are-- There is further room for 

work for potential consolidation if we were going to try to move things into 

a better or perfect world. We know how difficult that is, but how essential 

it is today. And we would see your numbers swell. 

Moreover, Senator Smith rightly points out the opportunities 

for administrative savings if we can pool together those nonacademic costs, 

and purchases, and missions that can rightly be done in a more efficient 

way. 

So I think we're getting there, and-- Any comments you would 

care to make now? I appreciate your work. 

DR. REOCK: Just one point of clarification. If a district was a 

K-12 district now, that did not eliminate them from the possibility of 

becoming a new -- the center of a new K-12 regional, if they were the 

receiving district for a lot of other distri'cts who sent their pupils on a 

tuition basis. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: That is an important -- it's an 

important point. But there are, nevertheless, and I'm sure you would agree, 

many examples of existing K-12 districts that are isolated-­

DR. REOCK: Yes. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: --in and of themselves, that are 

relatively small. 

DR. REOCK: Oh, yes. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Sometimes very small. 
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DR. REOCK: There are, that's right. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS:· Sometimes very small, with 

neighboring districts that are also very small. 

DR. REOCK: We have small school districts, and we also have 

small high schools in New Jersey. 

SENATOR KYRILLOS: Right, very good. 

Thank you, sir, very much. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Thank you, Senator. 

Professor Reock, I just have one final question. In your paper, 

you make a correlation that wealthier districts tend to have a resistance to 

consolidation, because of the fact that their wealth and their property taxes 

are going to pay a more significant share in a consolidation. 

Can you address that? 

DR. REOCK: That is a significant issue, really. In the paper, I 

assumed th~t the cost of the regional districts would be apportioned among 

the communities on the basis of rateables. In other words, property tax 

values. 

If we move to a -- and there is some argument going on in the 

State now, as to whether costs should be apportioned on the basis of tax 

rateables or pupils. If we were to do it on the basis of pupils, then many of 

these advantages that I see in this plan in terms of equal -- of larger tax 

bases would not be realized. Because small -- in most cases,· wealthy 

communities with very few school pupils would remain out -- would pay 

only in proportion to the number of pupils they send. This is an analysis 

that is going on in a number of places as the rationale for breaking up some 

of the existing regional high school districts. 
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An editorial that appeared in The Star-Ledger, for example, 

about two weeks ago, where it was pointed out that one small district in 

Ocean County was paying $51,000 per pupil in order to be a member of a 

high school regional district there. I think it's Southern Regional. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: That was a calculation that 

was done based on their-­

DR. REOCK: On the cost -- on their tax levy divided by the 

number of pupils that they send. I think that is a completely fallacious 

method of analysis. 

Actually, in that community, I checked, and their tax rate was 

about $.42 compared to a state average rate of $1. That $51,000 per pupil 

was not hurting that community at all. But if they were able to break loose 

from that regional, or were able' to have it placed on a per-pupil basis, their 

tax tate would go way down from $.42 to something even lower. 

And we have a lot of little enclaves like this which, under this 

plan, would be brought into a regional, and their tax base would be used 

and shared with the other communities in that region. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Is part of the difficulty in 

this that we have each municipality addressing their property assessments 

individually, so there is not necessarily consistency between Town A and 

Town B? 

DR. REOCK: Well-­

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: And Town A and Town B 

grow at different rates, have different ratables? 

DR. REOCK: No, no, it's not that. It's just that some towns 

have a lot of rateables and not very many kids, and when they put it on a 
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per-pupil basis, then really you're subverting the entire idea of a public 

school system. Public education is in the public interest. It's something we 

all need, something we all want, something we should all share in as 

individuals, as our resources make it possible for us to share in. 

Just carrying the analogy of the people who argue this $51,000 

idea further, if you really carried it to its full extent, I wouldn't be paying 

any school taxes right now, because I don't have any kids in schooL But 

when I did have kids in school, somebody else paid the taxes for me, and 

I'm very happy right now to pay taxes in proportion to my resources, which 

in this case is my property. And I think that should apply to comm.unities. 

just as well to individuals. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: It's a shared benefit. But I 

think what this underscores is that, in addition to the notion of home rule 

that we discussed earlier, how you measure what you're paying is also 

another landmine that has to be carefully addressed. 

DR. REGCK: It certainly is. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSIG: Thank you. 

Does anyone else have any other questions? (no response) 

Professor, thank you for your testimony. 

This will conclude the testimony of the Committee today. We 

have a meeting scheduled for next Wednesday at 10:00 a.m. And we look 

forward to seeing you at that ti~e. 

Thank you. 

(MEETING CONCLUDED) 
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Shared Services and Municipal
 
Efficiencies
 

• Dr. Marc Hol.zer 
• Dean, School of Public Affairs and 

Administration, Rutgers University-Newark 
..... 
< 

• Testimony to New Jersey Legislature, 
Shared Services Meeting, Aug. 30, 2006. 



Shared Services Efforts
 
in New Jersey 

Recurring emphases over the last few decades: 
- "Doing More With Less". 
- "Resources Decreasing or Remaining Stagnant" . 
- "Achieving Efficiency and Effectiveness with Limited 

~ Resources" 
. - "Small, Inefficient Municipalities" in NJ: Less then 500 

residents (12) /Less than 1/2 square mile 
(22)/Embedded Towns (10), etc. 

- "Too Many Governmental Units" 1300+ governmental 
units: 566 municipalities/611 school districts, 212 fire 
districts,190 local authorities, 21 counties ... 



2003 Rutgers/NCPP Study 
• Shared services/Inter-local agreements have 

been experimented with widely in NJ. Examples: 
- Sharing Staff: Tax Assessor, Municipal Courts 
- Sharing Equipment: Ditchmaster 
- Sh·ari1ng Internal Services: Animal Shelter 

- Sharing On-site Service Delivery: Health Services 
)J 
t - Sharing Non-site Based Services: Emergency 

Services Dispatching 

•	 Officials view such agreements positively.
 
•	 Savings are hard to document; perceived 

benefits to communities are commonly cited. 
•	 Overall, there is a lack of good information about 

the benefits of sharing service.s. D 



• Obstacles to more inter-local agreements include
 
(DCA 2001): 
- Opposition of unions, management, civil service, 

tenured em.ployees 

- Resident's concerns 

- Fear of loss of municipal identity and control 

- Ignorance as to. benefits of inter-local agreements 

~ 	 - Lack of documentation of real savings 

•	 A key obstacle is the desire to protect specific 
employees; multiple, conflicting. personnel 
policies are another barrier. 

•	 Informal contacts by municipal administrators,. 

•	 and open communication, are key to progress 



Strategies for Municipal
 
Efficiencies
 

• Performance Measurement 
- Benchmarking Against the- Municipality's Own 

Accomplishments 

~,  - Benchmarking Against Comparable 
Municipalities .in the State 

- Benchmarking Against National Data 



Measurement Collection System
 
NCPP Project: Funded by Rutgers and DCA
 

•	 This performance measurement data collection 
system will provide an easy mode of collecting 
key inldicatorsof government performance. 

....	 
• By in.corporating Governmental Accounting 

Standards Board (GASB) performance 
measurement recommendations, this system 
provid.es a standardized framework for inputting 
data. Within the framework, flexibility is provided 
for users to make appropriate modifications. 



Measurement Collection System
 
(Cant.)
 

• The technology used within this system 
will allow users the possibility of directly 
inputting data from larger databases or 
manually inputting appropriate data 

~ measures as they see fit. 
• The data collected can easily be 

transformed into graphs and/or charts, 
allowing users to produce accessible 
reports for interested parties. 



Examples ofPerforman~e  Measurement Form
 

: 
Recycling 

, ,..···· .. ···,····················1 
..................................................................................................................................................." 
: :I FY03 FY04 FY05 FY06 . I 

6. wh at was the percent of waste 
diverted from lanfJlIs through 
recyclfng? 

7. What 'was the cost of lanfnl fees 
avoided due to recycling? 

: 
; 

~ 112i 
: 
i 
: 
: 
iI ]102.000. 

116 

1107,034 . 

118 

1116,060 . 

123. 

1125,000 

: 
~ 

1. !..; 
: 
!
:
: 
iI 

~ Performance Measures 

. 
8. \illhat 'was the revenue rece.lved from 
sale of recyJced materIal? : 

Performance Data 

]200,060 1215,034 . \222,087 . 123'0,000 . 

Q 
I 9. Wh" wa"hHoot pe' hou"hold fo' 
~ recycling services?
!. 

1 , 

I 
l 
~ 

. 1 
23 

1 
25 ]26 ]26 

. . 
p'e,cenl of Wa10le Dlvene <J r"ollll.an(llH~ thJoltl/h 

RecyctiFl(J 

s 
o 

II ,5 .. 
I~ ::: 
I ~  .

I .r I a . 

I 
I
'- .. 

F'ya~  F'IC"1~.~~~.:_.~.~:~.s __ ..~:~~~  JI 

~ 

~ 

P,ofits 01 R ltcycllrfO 

~!iQO  00 

:! llDIJ un ..- ....._. ~ntf'jll bC:5: ~tJ dr::d 
ale "(0 rOC)' C::HfQ 

. 
........-R~,:nuc fCGehotd 

i
;iii;~i~~~iii  1'ram~IL~  or ret:Yl: ll:!d~at1DO  L....--'[J~_. .l:.:t\:.:D«:::..-.-----'1 

o 

F'i(I] fYC"~  :Y05 f'I'OU ~  

Snapshots 
Comment 

We were finally abl,e to payoff our experisive street sweeping equrpment. This has allowed us 
to de~rease  the cost for every citizen. T~ls  extra saving has allowed us to add anotller crewCon,ments 
memb,er making us much more efficient ~  

i . 



Police 
Jan-Mar Apr-Jull Jul-Sep Oct~Dec 

1. Number of index crimes'" 

11,980 11,950 11,990 ]1,950 

Jan-Mar Apr-JuIl Jul-Sep Oct-Dec 

2. Percent of index crimes cleared 

120 ]21 122 ]19 

*Based on federal Uniform Crime Reporting (UCR) standards. Index crImes [nclude crlmlnal homlcld~ forcible rape/robbery, 
aggravated assault burglary, theft'larceny, motor vehicle theft, mono...c 

'\ , 
I 

Number of indtx cfmu I Pm!ntofindex crimn c1nred 

I 
,: BiJ5D~=  

! 8f.DO 

!r,?5D 
I

I 7.91D
 
i 

17~D t­i 713J0 k 
I ~, 

i 1" T.~n ~~}1t:'''' 

I ,,1 'J\! 

i rYD1 F'r' L6 n05 FYot FY 05 rYC( 
: 



Strategies (cant.) 

• Seeking Best Practices
 

-Professional Organizations:
 

Intl. City Management Assoc. 

..
) 

American Society for Public Administration· 
\ 

Service Specific Networks/Assocs. 

-Awards Programs 

Innovations Program/Kennedy School 

NCPP Databases/NJ EXSL Awards 



Efficiency Strategies (cant.) 
•	 Seeking Lessons Learned/Guidelines
 

Accessing:
 
• Magazines, News Articles 
• Journal Articles 
• The Web
 

.• Networks
 

Via: Librarians/ Universities: Research Institutes/Schools/Centers 

.... ..... Examples from a recent search: 
\ 1. Shared Municipal Services Incentive Program: NY 

2. Broome County Shared Services Summit 
3. Albemarle County Efficiency Report 
4. Operational and Efficiency Review Draft Report- Town of Chapel Hill 
5. City Town Shared Services Consolidation Meeting- Ithaca 
6.	 Results of Municipal Performance measurement Program- Markham 

. Township 2°93, 2004 
7. Manitoba Municipal Efficiency Program 



Strategies (cant.) 

• Professional Education/Competencies 

• -- Certificates (NCPP Examples) 
• Public Performance Measurement
 

• -Business Improvement District Mgt.
 
"~  

~ -- Masters Degrees: 
• Master of Public Administration 

• Master of public Policy 

• Etc. 



Strategies (cant.) 

• Regionalization 
- 311 Statewide System (NCPP) 

- County Model 

~ - Meadowlands Commission Model 
~ 

• .Providing Assistance to 14 Municipalities 
. . 

• Separate Revenue Stream 



Strategies (cant.) 

• Special· Improvement Districts/Business 
Improvement Districts 
- Separate tax/revenue streams 

~ . - Provision of basic services 
~ 

- External funding possibilities 



Strategies (cant.) 

•	 Performance Measurement and Reporting 
Network (NCPP) 

•	 Mission: Bring together all types of resources for 
government performance measurement, and link 

~ all stakeholders in a measurement and reporting 
"I ·network. 

•	 Components of the Network: Lists of measures, 
direct access to hundreds of publications, case 
studies, handbooks and manuals. 

•	 Conferences and online discussions/queries 



Conclusions and
 
Recommendations
 

• Municipalities will resist forced sharing of. .
services.	 

. 

• Substantial efficiencies are possible through 
pervasive improvement~  in every service area. 

~ 

Estimated savings and cost avoidances are 3­
'\ . 5°lo/yr. 

•	 Performance measurement will drive down costs 
and improve service delivery. 

•	 Performance data must be publicly available. 
•	 Decision makers and stakeholders need 

continuous access to best practices in NJ, 
nationally and even internationally. 



Joint Legislative Committee on Government Consolidation and Shared Services 
August 30, 2006 

Potential Cost Savings from School District Consolidation
 
Ernest C. Reock, Jr.
 

1.	 Thee papers prepared: 

(l) "The Cost Impact of School District Creation and Consolidation in New 
Jersey", Occasional Paper #3, Center for Government Services, Rutgers 
University, March 1995. 

(2) "A Plan for School District Consolidation in New Jersey", Occasional Paper #4, 
Center for Government Services, Rutgers Uruverslty, July 1995. 

(3)	 2002-03 Update of "A Plan for School District Consolidation-in New Jersey", 
December 2003. 

2.	 Origin of the Papers 

3.	 Paper 1: 

(a) Identified changes in school district organization between 1957 and 
1992. 

(b) In each change, detennined expenditures per pupil for all districts 
involved in 4 th year before change, relative to the rest of the state, 

compared with expenditures per pupil in 4 th year after change, relative to 
the rest of the state. 

(c) Findings: 

(1)	 Of the 43 cases where the number ofdistricts was increased 
(usually the creation of a limited purpose high school regional), 41 
showed increases in the expenditure level per pupil, compared with 
the rest of the state. As a whole, the expenditure level in the 43 
districts rose by 15%. . 

(2)	 Of the six cases where the number of districts was decreased (by 
consolidating two or more existing districts into a new K-12 
regional district): 

a.	 In the three very wealthy districts, expenditures per pupil 
increased. 



2 
b.	 In the three moderate wealth districts, expenditures per 

. pupil declined by an average of 8.3%. 

c.	 As a whole, th~ six districts reduced their expenditures. 
relative to the rest of the state by 1.5%. 

4. Paper 2.	 Attempts to quantify potential savings, using fmdings ofPaper I and other 
Paper 3 research. 

(a) Plan suggested. 

Attempt to keep disruption to a minimum. Utilized existing patterns of school 
district relationships to consolidate into smaller number of districts. 

(I) each limited purpose high school regional would be expanded to 
become a full K-12 regional, and existing K-6 and K-8 constituent 
districts would be eliminated. 

(2) each K-12 district that is now a principal receiving district for K-6 or 
K-8 districts on a tuition basis would become anew K-12 regional 
district, and the existing K-6 and K-12 districts would be eliminated. 

(3) No teachers or pupils would be moved, at least initially; only the 
school district offices would be consolidated. Any further 
consolidation of schools or classes would be up to the regional board 
of education. 

(b) Results: 

(1) All districts offer full K-12 programs. 

(2) Number of school districts drops from 574 to 264. 

(3) Average size ofdistrict would rise from 2,066 to 4, I06 pupils, 
compared with national average of 3,120. 

(4) Estimated cost savings: 

Administrative expenditures: 

Used data on administrative cost per pupil for districts ofvarious 
sizes from 1994 Eagleton Institute (Paper 2) and 2003 DOE
 
Comparative Spending Guide (paper3).
 

Estimated saving (in 2002-03 dollars) of $ 65,000,000.
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Overall expenditures: 

Used 8.3% reduction in expenditures per pupil fOlllld for three 
moderate-wealth K-12 regionals reported in Paper I. 

Estimated saving (in 2002-03 dollars) of$365,000,000 (including 
administrative cost savings). 

Highly speculative estimate, based on very limited sample of districts. 

This almost certainly would be realized only through consolidation of 
classes and schools, and could most easily take place during a period 
of enrollment decline. 

Further caveat: There may well be some unexpected costs of 
consolidation. 

For example, salary scales will have to be integrated, and they usually 
,are integrated upward. 

(c) Non-budget advantages of consolidation: 

(l) Creates school districts having broader, more stable local property tax 
bases with some equalization of tax rates; possible reduction in 
demand for state aid. 

(2) Creates full K-12 systems, with possible educational advantages. 

(d) Obvious downsides ofconsolidation: 

(l) There will be winners and losers financially. 

(2) There will be some perceived threat to local control; while the fish 
might remain the same size, the ponds would become larger. 

4. Bottom Line: 

It appears that there are some potential cost savings that could be made through
 
consolidation of school districts, especially in administrative costs.
 

Whether they are larger enough to justify the tunnoil and disruption involved is open to 
serious question. 



2002-03 Update of 

A PLAN FOR SCHOOL DISTRICT CONSOLIDATION
 
IN NEW JERSEY
 

Ernest C. Reock, Jr.
 

December 2003
 



1 
Occasional Paper #3, published in March 1995, examined the cost impact of the creation 

and consolidation of school districts over the past 40 years in New Jerseyl. Occasional Paper #4, 
issued several months later, suggested a plan for consolidating existing districts and used 
conclusions from the first paper to estimate possible cost savings2

• This report is intended to up­
date the infonnation in Paper #4, while not replicating or extending the basic research in the first 
paper. 

The two earlier papers concluded that the state has an unusually large number of school 
districts, resulting in a low number of pupils per district and, probably, excessively high costs, 
particularly for district-wide administration. The Census Bureau has reported data showing that 
New Jersey, with 2,066 ~upils per school system compared with a national average of 3,120, 
.ranks 37th in the country'. . 

Elementary and secondary education is delivered in the more urban parts of the state 
through K-12 school systems functioning within the boundaries of individual municipalities. In 
other places, many communities have entered into regionalization or consolidation arrangements, 
sometimes on a K-12 basis, sometimes through K-6, K-8, 7-12, or 9-12 grade patterns. If an 
elementary school district has not entered into a regional district, but is too small to justify its . 
own high school, it may send its pupils to some other district anQ pay tuition for them. 

Occasional paper #3 found that the creation of limited purpose secondary school regional 
districts has been an expensive solution to the problem of small enrollments, with costs per pupil 
within the regional area rising faster than the state average in almost every case after their 
establishment. Conversely, when districts have combined into K-12 regional districts there was 
some evidence of reduced costs. Although the small number ofK-12 regionalizations during the 
40 years for which adequate data were available made the results rather speculative, they were 
sufficiently promising to justify preparation of a plan for extending such regionaqzations 
throughout the state. 

The objective of the plan, which has been sought again in this up-date, is to reduce 
substantially the number of small school districts while disrupting pupils and teachers as little as 
possible. This would be done as follows: 

a.	 Each of the limited purpose high school districts (7-12 or 9-12) would be converted 
into an all-purpose K-12 regional district, and its Constituent elementary school 
districts would be eliminated. 

b.	 Each elementary sending district would become part ofa K-12 regional district 
centered on the current receiving district. 

I Ernest C. Reock, Jr., The Cost [mpact of School District Creation and Consolidation in New Jersey. Occasional 
Paper #3, Center for Govenunent Services, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, March 1995. 

2 Ernest C. Reock, Jr., A Plan for School District Consolidation in New Jersey, Occasional Paper #4, Center for 
Government Services, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, July 1995. 

J Enrollment data are for the year 2000 from U.S.Census Bureau; Annual Survey of Local Government Finances, 
2000, Table 18; school system data are for the year 2002 from U.S.Census Bureau, 2002 Census ofGovemments, 
Volume l, Number l, Goverrunent Organization, GC02 (1)-1. 

,jJ... 
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c. All other school districts would remain unchanged as K-12 districts4
• 

Under this plan, with few exceptions, no pupils or teachers would be moved from their 
present classrooms5

• This is intended as a plan of school district consolidation, not school 
consolidation. The main things that would be changed are the boards of education and the 
central school district administrations. 

Results of the Consolidation 

Number and Size of School Districts 

Applying the guidelines described above to 2002-03 data, the number of regular school 
districts in New Jersey would be reduced from 574 to 264. A full listing of the proposed new or 
revised regional K-12 school districts is shown in Appendix A. A full listing of the K-12 
districts that would remain untouched by the suggested consolidation plan is in Appendix B. 
Using the Census Bureau data reported above, the average munber of pupils per district would 
rise from 2,066 (37th in the country) to 4,106 (18th in the country). Table 1 shows the 
distribution of school districts by resident enrollment6 before and after the consolidation. 

Cost Savings 

The most immediate cost savings almost certainly would come from reduction of central 
administrative costs in the many small districts eliminated. Occasional paper #4 drew upon 
research conducted by a policy research seminar at the Eagleton Institute of Politics at Rutgers, 
using 1990-91 cost data for central district administration? Unfortunately, comparable data for 
recent years have not been readily available. Instead, use has been made of2002-03 budgeted 
expenditures for total administration published by the New Jersey Department of EducationS. 
These data cover a wider spectrum of administrative costs than the 1990-91 data used earlier, 
including many items at the school level, rather than central office expenditures9

. They thereby 
deviate somewhat from the original intent of the consolidation plan by anticipating potential cost 
savings other than central office consolidation. 

4 This plan deals only with the school districts responsible for general elementary and secondary education of their
 
pupils. County-based vocational-technical schools and special service districts and educational services
 
commissions are not included.
 

5	 Where a sending district now splits its pupils among different receiving districts there might be a change in the 
location ofsome pupils. However, this could be delayed until the present pupils have completed their education. 
A special case is presented by Montague Township, which now sends it secondary pupils on a tuition basis to Port 
Jervis, N.Y.; for purposes of the plan Montague has been assigned to High Point Regional. 

6 "'Resident enrollment" here is the enrollment reported by the district for state aid purposes. 
7 How Much for Administration? Expenditure Priorities Across New Jersey School Districts; FY90-91 ; Prepared by 

the Policy Research Seminar, Eagleton Institute of Politics, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, N.J., June 1994. 
8 Comparative Spending Guide, 2003, Summary, 2002-03 Budget Totals, Indicator 8-Total Administration, pp. 895­

921, as reported. on New Jersey Department of Education website. 
9 The Department of Education's defmition of "Total Administration" in shown in Appendix C. 

_?" 



Table 1. Distribution of Proposed School Districts by 2002-03 Resident Enrollment. 

2002-03 
Resident 

Enrollment 

250 or less 

251 to 500 

501 to 1,000 

1,001 to 1,500 

1,501 to 2,500 

2;501 to 3,500 

3,501 to 5,000 

5,001 to 6,500 
.. 

6,501 to 8,500 

8,501 to 10,500 

10,501 to 15,000 

15,001 to 30,000 

Over 30,000 

Total 

Existing 
School 

Districts 

65 

70 

119 

85 

87 

32 

48 

27 

13 

13 

9 

4 

2 

574 

Proposed Districts 
New and 
Revised Unchanged Total 
Regional K-12 Proposed 
Districts Districts Districts 

0 0 0 

0 0 0 

1 0 1 

.. 
4 13 17 

30 32 62 

23 17 40 

31 31 62 

10 20 30 

9 7 16 

4 12 16 

3 9 12 

1 4 5 

1 2 3 

117 147 264 
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The 2002-03 data have been used to make a new analysis of total administrative costs 

per pupil for school districts ofdifferent grade patterns and different enrollment sizes. The 
results of this analysis in Table 2 demonstrate that total administrative costs are much higher on a 
per pupil basis in the smaller school districts. Enrollment figures used here are for the number of 
pupils served in the district, regardless of their place of residence10. Therefore, they differ from 
the resident enrollments shown in Table 1 and Appendices A and B. The 30 Abbott school 
districts have been omitted from the data in Table 2, since they now receive special treatment 
under court decisions and are hardly representative of the rest of the school districts in the state. 

Potential cost savings from the reduction of total administrative costs through the 
proposed consolidations have been estimated in Table 3 by using average cost figures from Table 
'2 and the total enrollments that have been calculated for each enrollment size of school district 
under both the existing and the suggested plan of districts. The result is an estimated short-tenn 
saving of about $65 million per year in total administrative costs (in 2002-03 dollars). These 
possible savings, of course, might be balanced by any new costs incurred in the consolidation 
process, particularly the necessity for integrating salary scales of the consolidating districts 

Beyond savings from the reduction of central administrative costs, there probably would 
be additional savings in future years through more efficient operations and better use of 
resources in the larger districts, particularly as enrollments rise or fall. In the earlier occasional 
papers it was found that districts that consolidated into K-12 regionals had a mixed experience. 
The very wealthy districts actually increased their expenditures per pupil moderately after 
consolidation relative to the rest of the state. In the medium- and low- wealth districts, however, 
substantial reductions took place, with the average being a 8.3% decline in total expenditures 
during the first four years after consolidation and greater reductions in future years. If the 8.3% , 
figure is ayplied to the total budgets of all of the proposed new medium-wealth and low-wealth 
regionals1 

, there is an estimated potential possible saving of about $365 million per year (in 
2002-03 dollars). This estimate is very speculative, since the 8.3% figure is based on the 
experience of only a handful of school districts that have consolidated into K-12 regionals over 
the years. These future savings would depend upon the actions of futUre school boards and 
school administrations. The $65 million dollar estimated potential reduction in total . 
administrative costs would be a part of the $365 million. 

School District Wealth 

One of the problems created by the multiplicity of school districts in New Jersey is that 
the wealth of the state is not equally distributed among districts. Some districts have large 
amounts of taxable property, while others have little. Some districts, are the residence of many 
persons with high incomes, while in ot~er distric.ts the residents have much lower incomes. 
Equalized state aid programs are intended to compensate t'o some degree for these inequalities, 
but they rarely compensate fully. 

10 op.cit, Comparative Spending Guide. 
II Based on the characteristics of the sample districts in the earlier occasional papers, the break-point between low­
medium wealth' districts and high-wealth districts has been estimated at about 1.7 times the state average equalized 
valuation per pupil. 



Table 2. Budgeted Cost of Total Administration per Pupil Served. 

Grade
 
Pattem
 

K-6
 

K-8
 

K-12
 

7-12
 

9-12
 

Number of
 
Pupils
 
Served
 

1 to 499
 
500+
 

1 to 499
 
500 to 999
 

1,000 to 1,499
 
1,500 to 1,999
 

2,000+
 

1 to 2,999
 
3,000 to 5,999
 
6,000 to 9,999
 

10,000+
 

1 to 1,499
 
1,500+
 

1 to 1,499
 
1,500 to 2,499
 

2,500+
 

N=41
 
N=21
 

N=86 
N=79 
N=32 
N=10 
N=18 

N=94 
N=60 
N=25 
N=8 

N=7 
N=9 

N=16 
N=8 
N=7 

Total 
Enrollment 
in Group 

10,594 
23,278 

25,512 
57,788 
38,074 
17,398 
73,568 

175,936 
249,453 
188,526 
100,468 

6,998 
19,262 

15,552 
15,637 
31,777 

Est. 
Avg.Total 

Budgeted Admin. 
Cost of Cost per 
Total Pupil 

Administration Served 

14,752,000 1,392 
22,840,127 981 

38,205,595 1,498 
70,005,539 1,211 
38,791,657 1,019 
17,174,270 987 
68,813,071 935 

201,034,607 1,143 
251,379,364 1,008 
181,153,016 961 
85,985,008 856 

9,505,671 1,358 
22,131,095 1,149 

22;968,026 1,477 
20,451,719 1,308 
40,227,500 1,266 



Table 3. Estimated Potential Cost Savings in Total Administration from Consolidation Plan 

Est. . Est. 
Avg. Total Avo. Total 

Admin. Est. Admin. Est. 
Number of Total Cost per Total Number of Total Cost per Total 

Grade Pupils Enrollment Pupil Admin Grade Pupils Enrollment Pupil Admin 
Pattern' Served in Group Served Cost Pattern Served in Group Served Cost 

, 

Existing Districts to be Consolidated Revised and New Reaionals 

K-6 1 to 499 10,594 1,392 14,746,848 1 to 499
 
500+ 23,278 981 22,835,718 500+
 

-
K-8 1-499 25,512 1,498 38,216,976 1-499
 

500-999 57,788 1,211 69,981,268 500-999
I 

1,000-1,499 38,074 1,019 38,797,406 1,000-1,499 
1,500-1,999 17,398 987 17,171,826 1,500-1,999 

2,000+ 73,568 935 68,786,080 2,000+ 

-~ , K-12 1 to 2,999 86,181 1,143 98,504,883 K-12 1 to 2,999 101,459 1,143 115,967,637 
. 3,000-5,999 68,922 1,008 69,473,376 3,000-5,999 198,139 1,008 199,724,112 

6,000 to 9,999 41,675 961 40,049,675 6,000 to 9,999 136,548 961 131,222,628 
10,000+ - 856 - 10,000+ 96,070 856 82,235,920 

-
7-12 1 to 1,499 6,998 1,358 9,503,284 1 to 1,499
 

1,500+ 19,262 1,149 22,132,038 1,500+
 

-
9-12 1 to 1499 15,552 1,477 22,970,304 1 to 1,499
 

1,500 to 2,499 15,637 1,308 20,453,196 1,500 to 2,499
 
2,500+ 31,777 1,266 40,229,682 2,500+
 

Total 532,216 593,852,560 Total 532,216 529,150,297 

Est.Cost Savinos 64,702,263 
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By consolidating New Jersey's existing school districts into a smaller nunlb~r some, but 
not all, of these inequalities would be lessened: Tables 4 and 5 show the distribution of school 
districts by the amount of taxable property per resident pupil and by the amount of personal 
income per resident pupil, both before and after the proposed consolidations. The major impact 
of the consolidation would be to eliminate as separate school districts a number ofcommunities 
that are high-wealth enclaves carrying a relatively light burden of the cost of public education. 

School Property Tax Rates 

If taxable property values per resident pupil were equalized through consolidation, with 
regional school tax levies apportioned among the constituent conununities on the basis of 
equalized valuation, an equalization of property tax rates would follow. The distribution of 
school tax rates before and after the proposed consolidation is shown in Table 6. None of the 
potential cost savings described above are reflected in this table, which merely re-distributes the 
existing school property tax levies among the consolidated districts. 



Table 4. Distribution of Proposed School Districts by 2002-03 Equalized Valuation per Resident Pupil. 

2002-03 Proposed Districts 
Equalized New and 
Valuation Existing Revised Unchanged Total 

per Resident School Regional K-12 Proposed 
Pupil Districts Districts Districts Districts 

$100,000 or less 5 0 1 1 

100,001 to 200,000 27 4 12 16 

200,001 to 300,000 74 18 13 31 

300,001 to 400,000 85 18 21 39 

400,001 to 500,000 85 15 23 38 

500,001 to 600,000 54 9 20 29 

600,001 to 700,000 46 9 17 26 

. 700,001 to 800,000 39 9 11 20 

800,001 to 900,000 36 5 12 17 

900,001 to 1,000,000 26 6 7 13 

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 49 16 8 24 

1,500,001 to 3,000,000 22 7 2 9 

3,000,001 to. 10,000,000 14 1 ° 1 

Over 10,000,000 11 ° 0 0 

Total 573 117 147 264 

*Pine Valley has no resident pupils in 2002-03. 



Table 5. Distribution of Proposed School Districts by 2000 Personal Income per 2002-03 Resident Pupil. 

2000 Proposed Districts 
Personal New and 
Income Existing Revised Unchanged Total 

per 2002-03 School Regional K-12 Proposed 
Resident Pupil Districts Districts Districts Districts 

$50,000 or less 7 1 1 2 

50,001 to 100,000 120 23 26 49 

100,001 to 150,000 174 37 47 84 

150,001 to 200,000 101 22 26 '48 

200,001 to 250,000 63 11 21 32 

250,001 to 300,000 33 10 14 24 

300,001 to 350,000 24 4 6 10 

350,001 to 400,000 8 1 2 3 

400,001 to 450,000 4 2 0 2 

450,001 to 500,000 9 2 1 3 

500,001 to 1,000,000 21 4 3 7 

Over 1,000,000 9 0 0 0 

Total 573 117 147 264 

.. 
*Pine Valley has no resident pupils in 2002-03. 



Table 6. Distribution of Proposed School Districts by 2002-03 Equalized School Tax Rate. 

2002-03 
Equalized 

School 
Tax Rate 

$.50 or less 

.51 to .60 

.61 to .70 

.71 to.80 

.81 to .90 

.91 to 1.00 

1.01 to 1.10 

1.11 to 1.20 

1.21 to 1.30 

1.31 to 1.40 

1.41 to 1.50 

1.51 to 1.60 

1.61 to 1.70 

1.71 to 1.80 

1.81 to 1.90 

1.91 to 2.00 

Over 2.00 

Total 

Proposed Districts 
New and 

Existing Revised Unchanged Total 
School Regional K-12 Proposed 

Districts Districts Districts Districts 

30 4 0 4 

10 3 0 3 

10 3 1 4 

18 3 5 8 

27 8 10 18 

33 8 7 15 

44 10 11 21 

46 5 12 17 

62 12 19 31 

60 22 21 43 

57 10 16 26 

54 11 17 28 

40 9 15 24 

42 3 8 11 

16 4 3 7 

9 0 0 0 

15 2 2 4 

573 117 147 264 

• Pine Valley has no school tax levy in 2002-03. 
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Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts 1.0. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

ATLANTIC CITY REGIONAL (NEW) 10,879.5 
ATLANTIC CITY 110 1 K-12 7,075.5 
BRIGANTINE 570 1 K-8 1,536.5 
LONGPORT 2780 1 NONE 49.0 
MARGATE 3020 1 K-8 721.5 
VENTNOR 5350 1 K-8 1,497.0 

BUENA REGIONAL 3,014.0 
BUENA REGIONAL 590 1 K-12 2,109.0 
ESTELL MANOR 1410 1 K-8 322.0 
NEWFIELD BORO 3580 8 NONE 223.5 
WEYMOUTH 5760 1 K-8 359.5 

GREATER EGG HARBOR REGIONAL 12,064.0
 
GREATER EGG HARBOR REG. 1790 1 9-12 3,509.5
 
EGG HARBOR CITY 1300 1 K-8 557.0
 
GALLOWAYTWP. 1690 1 K-8 4,083.0
 
HAMILTON TWP. 1940 1 K-8 2,838.0
 
MULLICA TWP. 3480 1 K-8 792.0
 
PORT'REPUBLIC 4240 1 K-8 161.5
 
WASHINGTON TWP 5490 3 K-8 123.0
 

HAMMONTON REGIONAL (NEW) 4,313.0
 
HAMMONTON 1960 1 K-12 2,178.0
 
FOLSOM 1540 1 K-8 410.0
 
WATERFORD 5560 4 K-6 1,725.0
 

MAINLAN[ 4,967.0
 
MAINLAND REG. 2910 1 9-12 1,608.0
 
LINWOOD CITY 2680 1 K-8 1,007.0
 
NORTHFIELD 3720 1 K-8 1,107.0
 
SOMERS POINT 4800 1 K-8 1,245.0
 

PLEASANTVILLE REGIONAL (NEW) 5,100.0 
PLEASANTVILLE 4180 1 K-12 4,021.5 
ABSECON 10 1 K-8 1,078.5 

CARLSTADT-EAST RUTHERFORD REGIONAL 1,739.5 
CARLSTADT E. RUTHR 745 29-12 527.5 . 
CARLSTADT BORO 740 2 K-8 495.0 
E. RUTHERFORD 1230 2 K-8 717.0 

CLIFFSIDE PARK REGIONAL (NEW) 3,607.5 
ICLIFFSIDE PARK BORO 890 2 K-12 2,145.0 
FAIRVIEW BORO 1470 2 K-8 1,462.5 



Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional I Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts 1.0. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

ENGLEWOOD REGIONAL (NEW) 3,228.5
 
ENGLEWOOD CITY 1370 2 K-12 2,784.5
 
ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS BORO 1380 2 K-8 444.0
 

HACKENSACK REGIONAL (NEW) 6,630.0
 
HACKENSACK CITY 1860 2 K-12 4,612.0
 
MAYWOOD BORO 3060 2 K-8 1,112.5
 
ROCHELLE PARK TWP 4470 2 K-8 625.5
 
SOUTH HACKENSACK TWP 4870 2 K-8 280.0
 

HASBROUCK HEIGHTS REGIONAL (NEW) 1,603.0
 
HASBROUCK HEIGHTS BORO 2080 2 K-12 1,590.0
 
ITETERBORO BORO 5170 2 NONE 13.0
 

LEONIA R 2,052.0
 
LEONIA BORO 2620 2 K-12 1,420.5
 
EDGEWATER 1270 2 K-6 631.5
 

MIDLAND PARK REGIONAL 1,812.0
 
MIDLAND PARK BORO 3170 2 K-12 1,103.0
 
NORTH HALEDON BORO 3640 16 K-8 709.0
 

-~ 

NORTHERN HIGHLANDS REGIONAL .4,529.0 
N. HIGHLANDS REG H 3700 2 9-12 845.5 
ALLENDALE 40 2 K-8 1,108.0 
HOHOKUS BORO 2200 2 K-8 813.5 
SADDLE RIVER BORO 4620 21K-8 408.0 
UPPER SADDLE RIVER B 5330 2 K-8 1,354.0 

NORTHERN VALLEY REGIONAL 7,432.0 
NORTHERN VALLEY REG 3710 2 9-12 2,288.5 
CLOSTER BORO 930 2 K-8 1,212.0 
DEMAREST BORO 1070 2 K-8 735.0 
HARRINGTON PARK BORO 2050 2 K-8 646.0 
HAWORTH BORO 2090 2 K-8 499.0 
NORTHVALE 3730 2 K-8 539.0 
NORWOOD BORO 3740 2 K-8 671.0 
OLD TAPPAN BORO 3850 2 K-8 824.5 
ROCKLEIGH BORO . 4500 2 NONE 17.0 

PASCACK VALLEY REGIONAL 6,027.5 
PASCACK VALLEY REG 3960 2 9-12 1,566.5 
HILLSDALE BORO 2180 2 K-8 1,305.0 
MONTVALE BORO 3330 2 K-8 956.0 
RIVERVALE TWP 4430 2 K-8 1,307.0 

-
WOODCLIFF LAKE 5880 2 K-8 893.0 



Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts 1.0. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

RAMAPO-INDIAN HILLS REGIONAL 7,529.5 
RAMAPO IND HILL REG 4300 2 9-12 2,058.5 
FRANKLIN LAKES BORO 1580 2 K-8 1,409.0 
OAKLAND BORO 3760 2 K-8 1,623.0 
WYCKOFF1WP 5920 2 K-8 2,439.0 

RIDGEFIELD PARK REGIONAL (NEW) 2,873.5 
RIDGEFIELD PK VILLAGE 4380 2 K-12 1,703.5 
LITTLE FERRY BORO 2710 2 K-8 

I 
1,170.0 

RIVER DELL REGIONAL 3,110.5 
RIVER DELL REG 4405 2 7-12 1,408.5 
ORADELL BORO 3870 2 K-6 712.0 
RIVER EDGE BORO 4410 2 K-6 990.0 

TENAFLY REGIONAL (NEW) 3,132.5 
TENAFLY BORO 5160 2 K-12 2,924.5 
ALPINE 80 2 K-8 208.0 

I 

WOOD-RIDGE REGIONAL (NEW) '1,210.0 
WOOD-RIDGE BORO 5830 2 K-12 840.0 
MOONACHIE BORO 3350 2 K-8 370.0 

BORDENTOWN REGIONAL 2,305.5 
BORDENTOWN REG 475 3 K-12 I 2,047.5 

I,NEW HANOVER 1WP ­ 3540 3 K-8 258.0 

BURLINGTON CITY REGIONAL (NEW) -2,540.0 
BURLINGTON CITY 600 3 K-12 1,424.0 
EDGEWATER PARK 1WP 1280 3 K-8 1,116.0 

LENAPE REGIONAL 23,468.5 
LENAPE REG H 2610 39-12 7,001.0 
EVESHAM1WP 1420 3 K-8 5,475.0 
MEDFORD1WP 3080 3 K-8 3,005.0 -­
MEDFORD LAKES 3070 31K-8 540.0 
MOUNT LAUREL 1WP 3440 3 K-8 4,544.0 
SHAMONG1WP 4740 3 K-8 914.0 
SOUTHAMPTON 1WP 4930 3 K-8 885.0 
TABERNACLE TWP 5130 3 K-8 952.5 
WOODLAND 1WP 5890 3 K-8 152.0 

-



Appendix A Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional 
Districts 

and Component 
Districts 

S.D. 
1.0. 

County 
1.0. 

Pal 
of 

Op. 
Resp. 

2002-03 
Resident 

Enrollment 

New 
Regional 
District 

Enrollment 

NORTHERN BURLINGTON COUNTY RE
NTHN BURLINGTON REG 
CHESTERFIELD TWP. 
MANSFIELD TWP 
NORTH HANOVER TWP 
SPRINGFIELD TWP 

GIONAL 
3690 
830 

2960 
3650 
5010 

37-12 
3 K-6 
3 K-6 
3 K-6 
3 K-6 

1,903.0 
269.0 
604.0 

1,308.0 
338.0 

4,422.0 

PALMYRA REGIONAL (NEW) 
PALMYRA BORO 
BEVERLY CITY 
RIVERTON BORO 

3920 
380 

4460 

3 K-12 
3 K-8 
3 K-8 

972.0 
411.0 
345.0 

1,728.0 

PEMBERTON REGIONAL (NEW) 
PEMBERTON TWP 
PEMBERTON BORO 

4050 
4040 

3 K-12 
3 K-8 

5,633.5 
189.0 

5,822.5 

.. 

RANCOCAS VALLEY REGIONAL 
RANCOCAS VALLEY REG 4320 
EASTAMPTON TWP 1250 
HAINESPORT TWP 1910 
LUMBERTON TWP 2850 
MOUNT HOLLYTWP. 3430 
WESTAMPTON TWP 5720 

39-12 
3 K-8 
3 K-8 
3 K-8 
3 K-8 
3 K-8 

2,185.0 
833.0 
540.0 

1,675.0 
1,170.0 
1,010.0 

7,413.0 

RIVERSIDE REGIONAL (NEW) 
RIVERSIDE TWP 
DELANCOTWP 

4450 
1030 . 

3 K-12 
3 K-8 

1,277.0 
505.0 

1,782.0 

AUDUBON REGIONAL (NEW) 
AUDUBON BORO 
AUDUBON PARK 
MTEPHRAIM 

150 
160 

3420 

4 K-12 
4 NONE 
4 K-8 

1,395.0 
163.0 
671.0 

2,229.0 

BLACK HORSE PIKE REGIONAL 
BLACK HORSE PKE REG 
BELLMAWR 
GLOUCESTER TWP 
RUNNEMEDE 

390 
260 

1780 
4590 

4 9-12 
4 K-8 
4 K-8 
4 K-8 

4,063.0 
954.0 

8,039.0 
812.0 

13,868.0 

COLLINGSWOOD REGIONAL (NEW) 
COLLINGSWOOD 
OAKLYN 
WOODLYNNE 

940 
3770 
5900 

4 K-12 
4 K-9 
4 K-8 

1,890.0 
510.5 
615.0 

3,015.5 



Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional 
Districts 

and Component. 
Districts 

S.D. 
1.0. 

County 
1.0. 

Pat. 
of 

Op. 
Resp. 

2002-03 
Resident 

Enrollment 

New 
Regional 
'District 

Enrollment 

EASTERN CAMDEN COUNTY REGIONAL 
EASTN CAMDEN CTY RG 
BERLIN BORO 
GIBBSBORO 
VOORHEES 

1255 
330 

1720 
5400 

49-12 
4 K-8 
4 K-8 
4 K-8 

2,208.0 
777.0 
292.0 

3,561.0 

6,838.0 

GLOUCESTER CITY REGIONAL (NEW) 
GLOUCESTER CITY 
BROOKLAWN 

1770 
580 

4 K-12 
4 K-8 

1,971.0 
331.0 

2,302.0 

HADDON HEIGHTS REGIONAL (NEW) 
HADDON HEIGHTS 
BARRINGTON 
LAWNSIDE 

1880 
190 

2560 

4 K-12 
4 K-8 
4 K-8 

957.0 
901.0 
432.0 

2,290.0 

HADDONFIELD REGIONAL 
HADDONFIELD 
PINE VALLEY 
TAVISTOCK 

1900 
4120 
5140 

4 K-12 
4 NONE 
4 NONE 

2,266.5 
0.0 
3.0 

2,269.5 

PENNSAUKEN REGIONAL (NEW) 
PENNSAUKEN 
MERCHANTVILLE 

4060 
3110 

4 K-12 
4 K-8 

6,024.0 
441.0 

6,465.0 

PINE HILL REGIONAL'(NEW} 
PINE HILL 
BERLIN TWP 
CLEMENTON 

4110 
340 
880 

4 K-12 
4 K-8 
4 K-8 

1,785.5 
949.0 
762.0 

3,496.5 

STERLING REGIONAL 
STERLING H S DIST 
HINELLA 
LAUREL SPRINGS 
MAGNOLIA 
SOMERDALE 
STRATFORD 

5035 
2130 
2540 
2890 
4790 
5080 

49-12 
4 NONE 
4 K-6 
4 K-8 
4 K-8 
4 K-8 

848.0 
150.0 
311.0 
444.0 
473.0 
826.0 

: 3,052.0 

WINSLOW REGIONAL (NEW) 
WINSLOW 
CHESILHURST 

5820 
810 

4 K-12 
4 K-6 

5,907.0 
252.0 

6,159.0 



Appendix A Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised
 
Regional
 
Districts
 

and Component
 
Districts
 

LOWER CAPE MAY REGIONAL 
LOWER CAPE MAY REG 
CAPE MAY CITY 
CAPE MAY POINT BORO 
LOWERTWP 
WEST CAPE MAY BORO 

MIDDLE TOWNSHIP REGIONAL (NEW) 
MIDDLETWP 
AVALON BORO 
DENNISTWp· 
STONE HARBOR BORO 

OCEAN CITY REGIONAL (NEW) 
OCEAN CITY 
Corbin City 
SEA ISLE CITY 
UPPERTWP 

WILDWOOD REGIONAL (NEW) 
/ WILDWOOD CITY 

NORTH WILDWOOD CITY 
WEST WILDWOOD BORO 
WILDWOOD CREST BORO 

BRIDGETON (NEW) 
BRIDGETON 
DOWNE 

CUMBERLAND REGIONAL 
CUMBERLAND REG 
DEERFIELD 
FAIRFIELD 
GREENWICH 
HOPEWELL 
SHILOH 
STOW CREEK 
UPPER DEERFIELD 

MILLVILLE REGIONA~ (NEW) 
MILLVILLE 
COMMERCIAL 
LAWRENCE 
MAURICE RIVER 
WOODBINE BORO 

Pat. 
of 

S.D. County Op. 
I.D. I.D. Resp. 

2820 5 7-12 
710 5 K-6 
730 5 NONE 

2840 5 K-6 
5610 5 K-6 

3130 5 K-12 
170 5 K-8 

1080 5 K-8 
5060 5 K-8 

3780 5 K-12 
960 1 NONE 

4700 5 K-8 
5340. 5 K-8 

5790 5 K-12 
3680 5 K-8 
5700 5 NONE 
5800 5 K-8 

540 6 K-12 
1120 6 K-8 

997 6 9-12 
1020 6 K-8 
1460 6 K-8 
1820 

,. 

6 K-8 
2270 6 K-8 
4750 6 K-8 
5070 6 K-8 
5300 6 K-8 

I I 

3230 6 K-12 
950 6 K-8 

2570 6 K-8 
3050 6 K-8 
5840 5 K-8 

New 
2002-03 Regional 
Resident District 

Enrollment Enrollment 

3,972.5 
1,860.5 

185.0 
7.0
 

1,844.0
 
76.0 

3,960.0 
2,593.5 

131.0
 
1,146.0
 

89.5 

4,199.5 
1,337,5 

119.5 
237.0
 

2,505.5
 

1,716.0 
858.0 
407.5 

59.0 
391.5 

4,210.5 
3,972.0 

238.5 

3,841.5 
1,233.5 

335.0 
576.0 
83.0 

557.0 
56.0 

147.0 
854.0 

7,547.0 
5,154.0 

944.5 
543.0 
594.0 
311.5 



Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts I.D. I.D. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

WEST ESSEX REGIONAL 3,429.0
 
WEST ESSEX REG 5630 77-12 1,414.0
 
ESSEX FELLS TWP 1400 7 K-6 256.0
 
FAIRFIELD TWP 1465 7 K-6 703.0
 
NORTH CALDWELL TWP 3630 7 K-6 615.0
 
ROSELAND BORO 4530 7 K-6 441.0
 

CLEARVIEW REGIONAL 
CLEARVIEW REG 
HARRISON TWP 
MANTUA TWP 

870 
2070 
2990 

8 7-12 
8 K-6 
8 K-6 

2.045.5 
1.266.5 
1,430.0 

4.742.0 

DELSEA REGIONAL 
DELSEAREG. 
ELKTWP 
FRANKLIN TWP 

4940 
1330 
1590 

87-12 
8 K-6 
8 K-6 

1,917.0 
361.0 

1,424.0 

3.702.0 

GATEWAY REGIONAL 
GATEWAY 
NATIONAL PARK BORO 
WENONAH BORO 
WESTVILLE BORO 
WOODBURY HEIGHTS BORO 

1715 
3490 
5590 
5740 
5870 

87-12 
8 K-6 
8 K-6 
8 K-6 
8 K-6 

1,107.0 
259.0 
194.0 
354.0 
282.0 

2,196.0 

KINGSWAY REGIONAL 
KINGSWAY REG HS DIS 
EAST GREENWICH TWP 
LOGAN TWP 
SOUTH HARRISON TWP 
SWEDESBORO BORO 

2440 
1180 
2750 
4880 
5120 

87-12 
8 K-6 
8 K-8 
8 K-6 
8 K-6 

1,335.5 
600.0 

1,323.0 
250.0 
798.5 

4,307.0 

PAULSBORO REGIONAL (NEW) 
PAULSBORO BORO 
GREENWICH TWP 

4020 
1830 

8 K-12 
8 K-8 

1,267.5 
717.5 

1,985.0 

HARRISON REGIONAL (NEW) 
HARRISON 
EAST NEWARK BORO 

2060 
1200 

9 K-12 
9 K-8 

1,841.5 
367.5 

2,209.0 

NORTH BERGEN REGIONAL (NEW) 
NORTH BERGEN 
GUTTENBERG 

3610 
1850 

9 K-12 
9 K-8 

-

7,001.5 
1,242.5 

8,244.0 



--

Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component . S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts I.D. I.D. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

DELAWARE VALLEY REGIONAL 2,914.0
 
DELAWARE VLY REG H 1050 10 9-12 852.0
 
ALEXANDRIA TWP 20 10 K-8 668.0
 
FRENCHTOWN BORO 1680 10 K-8 . 126.5
 
HOLLANDTWP 2220 10 K-8 681.0
 
KINGWOOD 2450 10 K-8 458.0
 

IIMILFORD BORO 3180 10 K-8 128.5
 

HUNTERDON CENTRAL REGIONAL 9,385.0 
HUNTERDON CENTRAL 2300 10 9-12 2,648.5 
DELAWARE TWP 1040 10 K-8 535.5 
EAST AMWELL TWP 1160 10 K-8 488.0 
FLEMINGTON-RARITAN REG 1510 10 K-8 3,516.0 
READINGTON TWP 4350 10 K-8 2,197.0 

NORTH HUNTERDONNOORHEES REGIONAL . 8,975.5 
N HUNTNOORHEES REG 3660 10 9-12 2,559.5 

I BETHLEHEM TWP 370 10 K-8 601.0 
CALIFON BORO 670 10 K-8 150.0 
TOWN OF CLINTON 910 10 K-8 330.0 
ICLINTON TWP 920 10 K-8 1,736.0 
FRANKLIN TWP 1600 10 K-8 389.0 
GLEN GARDNER BORO 1740 10 'NONE 235.0 
HAMPTON BORO 1970 10 K-8 175.0 
HIGH BRIDGE BORO 2140 10 K-8 448.0 
LEBANON BORO 2590 10 K-5 105.0 
LEBANONTWP 2600 10 K-8 866.0 
TEWKSBURY TWP 5180 10 K-8 737.0 
UNION'TWP 5270 10 K-8 644.0 

: 

SOUTH HUNTERDON REGIONAL 
S HUNTERDON REG H 4890 10 7-12 343.0 
;LAMBERTVILLE CITY 2530 10 K-6 186.0 
STOCKTON BORO 5050 10 K-6 47.0 
WEST AMWELL TWP 5600 10 K-6 200.0 

EAST WINDSOR REGIONAL 4,929.5 
E. WINDSOR TWP 1245 11 K-12 4,756.5 
ROOSEVELT BORO 4520 13 K-6 173.0 

LAWRENCE REGIONAL (NEW) 5,639.0 
LAWRENCE TWP 2580 11 K-12 3,875.5 
WASHINGTON TWP 5510 11 K-8 1,763.5-

776.0 



Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts 1.0. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

PRINCETON REGIONAL 4,218.0
 
PRINCETON REG 4255 11 K-12 3,442.5
 
CRANBURY TWP 970 12 K-8 775.5
 

MONROE REGIONAL (NEW) 4,436.0
 
MONROETWP 3290 12 K-12 3,598.0
 
JAMESBURG BORO 2370 12 K-8 838.0
 

SPOTSWOOD REGIONAL (NEW) 2,399.5
 
SPOTSWOOD BORO 4970 12 K-12 1,121.0
 
HELMETTA BORO 2110 12 NONE 282.0
 
MILLTOWN BORO 3220 12 K-8 996.5
 

ASBURY PARK REGIONAL (NEW) 3,936.0
 
ASBURY PARK CITY 100 13 K-12 3,495.0
 
ALLENHURST BORO 50 13 NONE 11.0
 
BRADLEY BEACH BORO 500 13 K-8 393.0
 
DEAL BORO 1000 13 K-8 ' 37.0
 

_. 
FREEHOLD REGIONAL 36,617:5
 

FREEHOLD REG H 1650 13 9-12 10,298.5
 
COLTS NECK 945 13 K-8 1,518.0
 
FARMINGDALE BORO 1490 13 K-8 161.0
 
FREEHOLD BORO 1640 13 K-8 1,291.0
 
FREEHOLD TWP 1660 13 K-8 4,474.0
 
HOWELL TWP 2290 13 K-8 7,449.0
 
MANALAPAN-ENGTWN R 2920 13 K-8 5,584.0
 
MARLBORO TWP 3030 13 K-8 5,842.0
 

HENRY HUDSON REGIONAL 1,010.5
 
HENRY HUDSON REG 2120 13 7-12 470.5
 
ATLANTIC HIGHLANDS B. 130 13 K-6 310.0
 
HIGHLANDS BORO 2160 13 K-6 230.0
 

KEYPORT REGIONAL (NEW) 2,200.5
 
KEYPORT BORO 2430 13 K-12 939.5
 
UNION BEACH BORO 5230 13 K-8 1,261.0
 

MANASQUAN REGIONAL (NEW) 3,834.5
 
MANASQUAN BORO 2930 13 K-12 1,008.5
 
BELMAR BORO 270 13 K-8 532.0
 -
BRIELLE BORO 560 13 K-8 827.0 
SEA GIRT BORO 4690 13 K-8 245.5 
SOUTH BELMAR BORO 4840 13 NONE 242.0 
SPRING LAKE BORO '49ao 13 K-8 417.5 
SPRING LAKE HEIGHTS BORO 4990 13 K-8 562.0 



Appendix A Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Re~ional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts 1.0. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

MONMOUTH REGIONAL 4,233.0 
MONMOUTH REG H 3270 13 9-12 1,143.0 
EATONTOWN BORO 1260 13 K-8 1,322.0 
TINTON FALLS BORO 5185 13 K-8 1,768.0 

NEPTUNE REGIONAL (NEW) 4,581.0 
NEPTUNETWP 3510 13 K-12 3,983.0 . 
NEPTUNE CITY BORO 3500 13 K-8 598.0 

RED BANK REGIONAL 3,202.5 
RED BANK REG HS DST 4365 13 9-12 847.0 
AVON 180 13 K-8 140.5 
INTERLAKEN BORO 2320 13 NONE 11.0 

. LITTLE SILVER BORO 2720 13 K-8 841.0 
RED BANK BORO 4360 1.3 K-8 815.0 
SHREWSBURY BORO 4770 13 K-8 548.0 

RUMSON-FAIR HAVEN REGIONAL 2,764.5 
RUMSON FAIR HAVEN R 4580 13 9-12 755.5 
FAIR HAVEN 1440 13 K-8 992.0 
RUMSON BORO 4570 13 K-8 1,017.0 

SHORE REGIONAL 2,638.5 
SHORE REGIONAL 4760 13 9-12 705.5 
MONMOUTH BEACH BORO 3250 13 K-8 308.0 
OCEANPORT BORO 3830 13 K-8 746.0 
SEA BRIGHT BORO 4680 13 NONE 80.0 
WEST LONG BRANCH BORO 5640 13 K-8 799.0 

UPPER FREEHOLD REGIONAL 
UPPER FREEHOLD REG 
MILLSTONE TWP 

5310 
3200 

13 K-12 
13 K-8 

1,383.0 
2,124.0 

3,507.0 

BOONTON TOWN REGIONAL (NEW) 
BOONTON TOWN 
LINCOLN PARK BORO 

450 
2650 

14 K-12 
14 K-8 

I 

997.0 
1,299.0 

2,296.0 

BUTLER REGIONAL (NEW) 
BUTLER BORO 
BLOOMINGDALE BORO 

630 
420 

14 K-12 
16 K-8 

920.0 
966.0 

1,886.0 

DOVER TOWN REGIONAL (NEW) 3,352.5
 
DOVER TOWN 1110 14 K-12 2,486.5
 
MINE HILL lWP 3240 14 K-6 595.5
 
VICTORY GARDENS BORO 5380 14 NONE 270.5
 



Appendix A: Proposed Newand Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts I.D. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

HANOVER PARK REGIONAL 4,773.0
 
HANOVER PK REG H 1990 14 9-12 1,363.0
 
EAST HANOVER TWP 1190 14 K-8 1,108.0
 
FLORHAM PARK BORO 1530 14 K-8 938.0
 
HANOVERTWP 2000 14 K-8 1,364.0
 

MADISON REGIONAL (NEW) 2,502.0
 
MADISON BORO 2870 14 K-12 2,085.0
 
HARDING 2010 14 K-8 417.0
 

MOUNTAIN LAKES REGIONAL (NEW) 2,080.0
 
MT LAKES BORO 3460 14 K-12 1,293.5
 
BOONTONTWP 460 14 K-8 786.5
 

.­
MORRIS HILLS REGIONAL 8,610.0
 

MORRIS HILLS REG H 3370 14 9-12 2,479.0
 
DENVILLE TWP 1090 14 K-8 1,843.0
 
ROCKAWAY BORO 4480 14 K-8 596.0
 

IROCKAWAYTWP 4490 14 K-8 2,885.0
 
WHARTON BORO 5770 14 K-8 807.0
 

MORRIS SCHOOL DISTRICT 5,351.0
 
MORRIS SCH DIST 3385 14 K-12 4,610.0
 
MORRIS PLAINS BORa 3380 14 K-8 741.0
 

ROXBURY REGIONAL (NEW) 5,049.5
 
ROXBURYTWP 4560 14 K-12 4,406.5
 
MT ARLINGTON 3410 14 K-8 643.0
 

WEST MORRIS REGIONAL 7,941.5 
W. MORRIS REG H 5660 14 9-12 2,310.5 
CHESTER 820 14 K-8 1,239.0 
MENDHAM BORa 3090 14 K-8 644.0 
MENDHAM TWP 3100 14 K-8 887.0 
WASHINGTON TWP 5520 14 K-8 2,861.0 

CENTRAL OCEAN REGIONAL 4,885.5 
CENTRAL REG H 770 15 7-12 2,274.5 
BERKELEY TWP 320 15 K-6 1,913.0 
ISLAND HEIGHTS 2350 15 K-6 114.0 
OCEAN GATE 3800 15 K-6 189.0 
SEASIDE HEIGHTS BORa 4710 15 K-6 284.0 
SEASIDE PARK 4720 15 K-6 111.0 



Appendix A Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional 
Districts 

and Component 
Districts 

S.D. 
1.0. 

County 
1.0. 

Pat. 
of 

Op. 
Resp. 

2002-03 
Resident 

Enrollment 

New 
Regional 
District 

Enrollment 

MANCHESTER REGIONAL 
MANCHESTER 
LAKEHURST 

2940 
2500 

15 K-12 
15 K-8 

3,090.0 
571.5 

3,661.5 

PINELANDS REGIONAL 
PINELANDS REG 
BASS RIVER TWP. 
EAGLESWOOD TWP 
L1TILE EGG HARBOR 
TUCKERTON 

4105 
200 

1150 
2690 
5220 

15 7-12 
3 K-6 

15 K-6 
15 K-6 
15 K-6 

1,874.5 
145.0 
149.0 

1,570.0 
310.0 

4,048.5 

POINT PLEASANT BEACH REGIONAL 1,083.0
 
POINT PLEASANT BEACH 4220 15 K-12 739.5
 
BAY HEAD 210 15 K-8 96.5
 
LAVALLETIE . 2550 15 K-8 234.0
 

.. MANTOLOKING 2980 15 NONE 13.0 

SOUTHERN REGIONAL 9,5~1.5
 

SOUTHERN REG 4950 15 7-12 2,280.5
 
BARNEGAT TWP 185 15 K-8 3,252.5
 
BEACH HAVEN 230 15 K-6 86.0
 
LONG BEACH ISL 2760 15 K-6 335.0
 
OCEAN TWP (Ocean) 3820 15 K-6 1,206.5
 
STAFFORD TWP 5020 15 K-6 2,361.0
 

LAKELAND REGIONAL 3,586.5
 
LAKELAND REG H 2510 . 16 9-12 1,068.5
 
RINGWOOD BORO 4400 16 K-8 1,477.0
 
WANAQUE BORO 5440 16 K-8 1,041.0
 

PASSAIC-MANCHESTER REGIONAL 2,353.0
 
PAS CO MANCHSTR REG 3980 16 9-12 657.0
 
HALEDON BORO 19201 16 K-8 945.0
 
PROSPECT PARK BORO 4270 16 K-8 751.0
 

PASSAIC VALLEY REGIONAL 3,855.0
 
PAS VALLEY REG. 3990 16 9-12 1,108.0
 
LITTLE FALLS TWP 2700 16 K-8 880.0
 
TOTOWA BORO 5200 16 K-8 949.0
 
WEST PATERSON BORO 5690 16 K-8 918.0
 

POMPTON LAKES REGIONAL 2,178.0
 
POMPTON LAKES BORO 4230 16 K-12 1,799.0
 
RIVERDALE BORO 4440 14 K-8 379.0
 



Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component S.D. I County Op. Resident 'District 
Districts LD. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

PENNS GROVE-CARNEYS POINT REGIONAL 2,417.5 
PENNS GROVE-CARNEY'S POIN 4070 17 K-12 2,115.5 
OLDMANS TWP 3860 17 K-8 302.0 

PITTSGROVE REGIONAL (NEW) 2,014.0 
PITTSGROVE TWP 4150 17 K-12 1)55.0 
ELMER BORO 1340 17 K-6 259.0 

SALEM CITY REGIONAL (NEW) 2,223.0 
SALEM CITY 4630 17 K-12 1,184.5 
ELSINBORO TWP 1350 17 K-8 149.5 
LOWER ALLOWAYS CREEK TWF 2800 17 K-8 275.5 
MANNINGTON TWP 2950 17 K-8 206.0 
QUINTONTWP 4280 17 K-8 407.5 

WOODSTOWN-PILESGROVE REGIONAL 2,441.0 
WOODSTOWN-PILESGROVE 5910 17 K-12 1,254.0 
ALLOWAYTWP 60 17 K-8 597.0 
UPPER PITTSGROVETWP 5320 17 K-8 590.0 

BOUND BROOK REGIONAL (NEW) 2,093.0 
BOUND BROOK BORO 490 18 K-12 1,458.0 
SOUTH BOUND BROOK 4850 18 K-8 635.0 

HILLSBOROUGH REGIONAL (NEW) 7,778.5 
HILLSBOROUGH TWP 2170 18 K-12 7,724.5 
MILLSTONE BORO 3210 18 NONE 54.0 

MONTGOMERY REGIONAL (NEW) 4~~ 
MONTGOMERY TWP 3320 18 K-12 4,310.0 
ROCKY HILL 4510 18 NONE 71.0 

SOMERSET HILLS REGIONAL 2,352.5 
SOMERSET HILLS REG. 4815 18 K-12 1,551.0 
BEDMINISTER TWP 240 18 K-8 801.5 

SOMERVILLE REGIONAL (NEW) 4,091.0 
SOMERVILLE BORO 4820 18 K-12 1,614.0 
BRANCHBURG TWP 510 18 K-8 2,477.0 

WATCHUNG HILLS REGIONAL 6,257.0 
WATCHUNG HILL REG H 5550 18 9-12 1,293.0 
GREEN BROOK TWP 1810 18 K-8 1,110.0 
LONG HILL TWP 4000 14 K-8 1,073.0 
WARRENTWP 5470 18 K-8 2,172.0 
WATCHUNG BORO 5540 18 K-8 609.0 



----

Appendix A: Proposed New and Revised Regional Districts 

New and Revised 
Regional Pat. New 
Districts of 2002-03 Regional 

and Component . S.D. County Op. Resident District 
Districts 1.0. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment Enrollment 

HIGH POINT REGIONAL 4,689.0
 
HIGH PT REG H S 2165 19 9-12 1,245.0
 
BRANCHVILLE 520 19 NONE 86.0
 
FRANKFORD TWP 1560 19 K-8 665.0


-37MLAFAYEITE 2490 19 K-8 
MONTAGUE TWP 3300 19 K-6 557.0 
SUSSEX-WANTAGE REG 5100 19 K-8 1,758.0 

KITTATINNY REGIONAL 2,678.0 
KITTATINNY REG H S 2465 19 7-12 1,315.0 
FREDON TWP 1630 19 K-6 278.0 
HAMPTONTWP 1980 19 K-6 472.0 
SANDYSTON-WALLPACK 4650 19 K-6 179.0 
STILLWATER TWP 5040 19 K-6 434.0 

LENAPE VALLEY REGIONAL 2,742.5 
LENAPE VLY REG HS 2615 19 9-12 843.5 
NETCONG BORO 3520 14 K-8 278.0 
BYRAMTWP 640 19 K-8 1,185.0 
STANHOPE BORO 5030 19 K-8 436.0 

NEWTON REGIONAL (NEW) 2,980.5 
TOWN OF NEWTON 3590 19 K-12 1,257.5 
ANDOVER REG 90 19 K-8 1,026.0 
GREENTWP 1800 19 K-8 697.0 

WALLKILL VALLEY REGIONAL 3,014.0 
WALLKILL VLY REG 5435 19 9-12 869.0 
FRANKLIN BORO 1570 19 K-8 582.0 
HAMBURG BORO 1930 19 K-8 381.0 
HARDYSTON TWP 2030 19 K-8 786.0 
OGDENSBURG BORO 3840 19 K-8 396.0 

BERKELEY HEIGHTS REGIONAL (NEW) 3,393.0 
BERKELEY HEIGHTS, TWP 310 20 K-12 2,489.5 
MOUNTAINSIDE, BORO 3470 20 K-8 903.5 

CLARK REGIONAL (NEW) 2,777.0
-

CLARK, TWP 850 20 K-12 2,221.5 
GARWOOD 1710 20 K-8 555.5
 

KENILWORTH REGIONAL (NEW) 1,426.5
 
KENILWORTH, BORO 2420 20 K-12 1,239.0
 
WINFIELD, TWP 5810 20 K-8 187.5
 



--
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New and Revised
 
Regional
 
Districts
 

and Component
 
Districts
 

BELVIDERE REGIONAL (NEW) 
BELVIDERE 
HARMONY 
HOPE 
WHITETWP. 

HACKETTSTOWN REGIONAL (NEW) 
HACKETTSTOWN 
ALLAMUCHY lWP 
GREAT MEADOWS REG. 

NORTH WARREN REGIONAL 
N WARREN REG SCH 
BLAIRSTOWN 
FRELINGHUYSEN 
HARDWICK 
KNOWLTON 

PHILLIPSBURG REGIONAL (NEW) 
PHILLIPSBURG 
ALPHA 
BLOOMSBURY BORO 
GREENWICH 
LOPATCONG 
POHATCONG 

WARREN HILLS REGIONAL 
WARREN HILLS REG 
FRANKLIN 
MANSFIELD 
OXFORD 
WASHINGTON BORO 
WASHINGTON lWP. 

Total: New and Revised Regionals 

S.D. 
1.0. 

280
 
2040
 
2250
 
5780
 

1870
 
30
 

1785
 

3675
 
400
 

1670
 
2020
 
2470
 

4100
 
70
 

430
 
1840
 
2790
 
4200
 

5465
 
1620
 
2970
 
3890
 
5480
 
5530
 

Pat. 
of 

County Op. 
1.0. Resp. 

21 K-12
 
21 K-8
 
21 K-8
 
21 K-8
 

21 K-12
 
21 K-8
 
21 K-8
 

21 7-12
 
21 K-6
 
21 K-6
 
21 K-6
 
21 K-6
 

21 K-12
 
21 K-8
 
10 K-8
 
21 K-8
 
21 K-8
 
21 K-8
 

21 7-12
 
21 K-6
 
21 K-6
 
21 K-8
 
21 K-6
 
21 K-6
 

2002-63
 
Resident
 

Enrollment
 

616.5 
439.0 
292.5 
628.5 

1,383.5 
468.0 

1,497.5 

1,008.5 
596.0 
211.0 
166.0 
365.0 

2,665.0 
381.5 
165.5 

1,132.0 
1,097.0 

545.0 

2,017.0 
354.0 
746.0 
446.0 
620.0 
646.0 

528,029.5 

New
 
Regional
 
District
 

Enrollment
 

1,976.5 

3,349.0 

2,346.5 

5,986.0 

4,829.0 

528,029.5 



--

" 

-Appendix B: Unchanged K-12 Districts " . 

Pat. 
of 2002-03 

S.D. County Op. Resident 
Unchanged K-12 Districts 1.0. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment 

EGG HARBOR TWP. 1310 1 K-12 6,470.0 

BERGENFIELD BORO 300 2 K-12 3,970.0 
BOGOTA BORO 440 2 K-12 1,109.5 
CRESSKILL BORO 990 2 K-12 1,452.0 
DUMONT BORO 1130 2 K-12 2,738.5 
ELMWOOD PARK 1345 2 K-12 2,106.0 
EMERSON BORO 1360 2 K-12 1,022.5 
FAIR LAWN BORO 1450 2 K-12 4,770.0 
FORT LEE BORO 1550 2 K-12 3,537.0 
GARFIELD CITY 1700 2 K-12 4,064.0 
GLEN ROCK BORO 1760 2 K-12 2,374.0 
LODI BORO 2740 2 K-12 '3,051.0 
LYNDHURST TWP 2860 2 K-12 2,084.5 
MAHWAHlWP 2900 2 K-12 3,267.5 
NEW MILFORD BORO 3550 2 K-12 1,941.5 
NORTH ARLINGTON BORO 3600 2 K-12 1,475.5 
PALISADES PARK 3910 2 K-12 1,518.0 
PARAMUS BORO 3930 2 K-12 4,277.5 
PARK RIDGE BORO 3940 2 K-12 1,281.0 
RAMSEY BORO 4310 2 K-12 2,775.5 
RIDGEFIELD BORO 4370 2 K-12 1,763.0 
RIDGEWOOD VILLAGE 4390 2 K-12 5,457.5 
RUTHERFORD 4600 2 K-12 2!~ 
SADDLE BROOK lWP 4610 2 K-12 1,677.0 
TEANECKlWP 5150 2 K-12 4,687.0 
WALDWICK BORO 5410 2 K-12 1,544.5 
WALLINGTON BORO 5430 2 K-12 1,174.5 
WESlWOOD REG 5755 2 K-12 2,501.5 

BURLINGTON lWP 620 3 K-12 3,743.0 
CINNAMINSON lWP 840 3 K-12 2,592.5 
DELRANlWP 1060 3 K-12 2,629.5 
FLORENCE lWP 1520 3 K-12 1,601.0 
MAPLE SHADE lWP 3010 3 K-12 2,196.0 
MOORESTOWN lWP 3360 3 K-12 4,081.0 
WILLINGBORO lWP 5805 3 K-12 5,417.0 

CAMDEN CITY 680 4 K-12 17,258.0 
CHERRYHILL 800 4 K-12 11,226.0 
HADDON TWP. 1890 4 K-12 2,184.0 
LINDENWOLD 2670 4 K-12 2,388.0 

VINELAND 5390 6 K-12 9,516.5 

BELLEVILLE TWP 250 7 K-12 4.651.0 
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S.D. County Op. Resident 
Unchanged K-12 Districts 1.0. 1.0. Resp. Enrollment 

BLOOMFIELD TWP 410 7 K-12 5,951.5-­
CALDWELL-W.CALDWELL 660 7 K-12 2,598.0 
CEDAR GROVE TWP 760 7 K-12 1,448.0 
EAST ORANGE CITY 1210 7 K-12 12,301.0 
GLEN RIDGE TWP 1750 7 K-12 1,641.5 
IRVINGTON TWP 2330 7 K-12 8,649.5 
LIVINGSTON TWP 2730 7 K-12 5,084.0 
MILLBURN TWP 3190 7 K-12 4,198.0 . 
MONTCLAIR TWP 3310 7 K-12 6,424.5 
NEWARK CITY 3570 7 K-12 45,085.5 
NUTLEYTWP 3750 7 K-12 4,265.0 
ORANGETWP 3880 7 K-12 4,805.5 
SO ORANGE-MAPLEWOOD 4900 7 K-12 6,469.5 
VERONA TWP 5370 7 K-12 2,016.5 
WEST ORANGE TWP 5680 7 K-12 6,359.5 

CLAYTON BORO 860 8 K-12 1,216.0 
DEPTFORD TWP 1100 8 K-12 3,980.5 
GLASSBORO BORO 1730 8 K-12 2,411.0 
MONROETWP 3280 8 K-12 5,218.0 
PITMAN BORO 4140 8 K-12 1,656.0 
WASHINGTON TWP 5500 8 K-12 9,836.0 
WEST DEPTFORD TWP 5620 8 K-12 3,110.0 
WOODBURY CITY 5860 8 K-12 1,488.5 

BAYONNE 220 9 K-12 8,180.0 
HOBOKEN 2210 9 K-12 2,473.5 
JERSEY CITY 2390 9 K-12 32,795.5 
KEARNY 2410 9 K-12 5,201.0 
SECAUCUS 4730 9 K-12 1,712.5 
UNION CITY 5240 9 K-12 10,244.0 
WEEHAWKEN 5580 9 K-12 1,214.0 
WEST NEW YORK 5670 9 K-12 6,423.5 

EWINGTWP 1430 11 K-12 3,913.5 
HAMILTON TWP 1950 11 K-12 13,494.5 
HOPEWELL VLY REG 2280 11 K-12 3,821.5 
TRENTON CITY 5210 11 K-12 14,997.0 
W.WINDSOR-PLAINS R 5715. 11 K-12 8,912.5 

CARTERET BORO 750 12 K-12 3,649.5 
DUNELLEN BORO 1140 12 K-12 1,113.5 
EAST BRUNSWICK TWP 1170 12 K-12 8,978.5 
EDISONTWP 1290 12 K-12 13,162.0 
HIGHLAND PARK BORO 2150 12 K-12 1,565.5 
METUCHEN BORO 3120 12 K-12 1,846.5 
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MIDDLESEX BORO 3140 12 K-12 2,136.0 
NEW BRUNSWICK CITY 3530 12 K-12 6,269.5 
NORTH BRUNSWICK lWP 3620 12 K-12 5,400.0 
OLD BRIDGE TWP 3845 12 K-12 10,064.5 
PERTH AMBOY CITY 4090 12 K-12 8,691.0 
PISCATAWAY TWP 4130 12 K-12 6,869.0 
ISAYREVILLE BORO 4660 12 K-12 5,714.5 
SOUTH AMBOY CITY 4830 12 K-12 1,151.0 
SOUTH BRUNSWICK lWP 4860 12 K-12 8,201.0 
SOUTH PLAINFIELD BORO 4910 12 K-12 3,848.0 
SOUTH RIVER BORO 4920 12 K-12 2,259.5 
WOODBRIDGE lWP 5850 12 K-12 13,312.0 

HAZLETlWP 2105 13 K-12 3,503.5 
HOLMDEL lWP 2230 13 K-12 3,533.0 
KEANSBURG BORO 2400 13 K-12 1,965.0 
LONGBRANCH 2770 13 K-12 4,439.0 
'MATAWAN-ABERDEEN R 3040 13 K-12 3,909.5 
MIDDLETOWN TWP 3160 13 K-12 10,369.0 
OCEAN lWP (Mon.) 3810 13 K-12 4,501.5 
WALL lWP 5420 13 K-12 4,261.0 

SCH DST OF CHATHAMS 785 14 K-12 3,032.0 
JEFFERSON 2380 14 K-12 3,596.0 
KINNELON BORO 2460 14 K-12 2,110.5 
MON1VILLE lWP 3340 14 K-12 3,830.5 
MOUNT OLIVE 3450 14 K-12 4,624.0 
PARSIPPANY-TROY HILLS 3950 14 K-12 6,863.0 
PEQUANNOCK lWP 4080 14 K-12 2,483.0 
RANDOLPH lWP 4330 14 K-12 5,46~.0 

BRICKlWP 530 15 K-12 11,444.5 
JACKSON 2360 15 K-12 9,171.0 
LACEY 2480 15 K-12 5,053.0 
LAKEWOOD 2520 15 K-12 5,232.5 
PLUMSTED lWP 4190 15 K-12 1,657.0 
POINT PLEASANT 4210 15 K-12 3,185.0 
TOMS RIVER REG 5190 15 K-12 18,254.5 

-­
CLIFTON CITY 900 16 K-12 10,504.0 
HAWTHORNE BORO 2100 16 K-12 2,322.0 
PASSAIC CITY 3970 16 K-12 11,513.0 
PATERSON CITY 4010 16 K-12 26,998.0 
WAYNElWP 5570 16 K-12 8,672.5 
WEST MILFORD TWP 5650 16 K-12 4,730.0 
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of 
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PENNSVILLE TWP 4075 17 K-12 2,071.0 

BERNARDS TWP 
BRIDGEWTR-RARITAN R 
FRANKLIN TWP 
MANVILLE BORO 
NO PLAINFIELD BORO 

350 
555 

1610 
3000 
3670 

18 K-12 
18 K-12 
18 K-12 
18 K-12 
18 K-12 

4,752.5 
8,518.0 
6,666.5 
1,335.0 
3,371.0 

HOPATCONG BORO 
SPARTA TWP 
VERNONTWP 

2240 
4960 
5360 

19 K-12 
19 K-12 
19 K-12 

2,793.0 
3,886.0 
5,416.5 

CRANFORD, lWP 
ELIZABETH, CITY 
HILLSIDE, TWP 
LINDEN CITY 
NEW PROVIDENCE, BORO 
PLAINFIELD, CITY 
RAHWAY CITY 
ROSELLE BORO 
ROSELLE PARK BORO 
SCOTCH PliNS-FANWD 
SPRINGFIELD, TWP 
SUMMIT, CITY 
UNION, TWP 
WESTFIELD 

980 
1320 
2190 
2660 
3560 
4160 
4290 
4540 
4550 
4670 
5000 
5090 
5290 
5730 

20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 
20 K-12 

3,368.0 
20,302.0 

3,288.0 
5,958.0 
2,154.0 
8,116.0 
3,820.0 
3,036.0 
2,006.5 
4,819.0 
1,875.0 
3,365.0 
7,952.0 
5,743.5 

Total: Unchanged K-12 Districts 811,602.5 
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Indicator 8 - Total Administration
 
This indi,cator includes the expenditures related to the four areas of the annual school district budget statement - general administration, school >


'0 
administration, and business and other support services, both business and central. Total administration Includes the c;ostsassociated with the ~  

activities concerned with establishing and administering policy for operating the district, the costs associated with the overall administrative ::l 
0.. 

responsibility for the individual schools within the district, and business support services and central support services such as research and ~.  

development, planning, evaluation, information services, data processing services, and staff services. It also Includes the costs associated with the {j 
assistance of instructional staff in planning, developing, and evaluating the process of providing learning experiences for students. Included here vwould be the board of education services and executive administration services such as the superintendent, assistant superintendents, board ~ 

secretary/business administrator, and treasurer of school moneys. Also included In the definition of administration are the activities performed by ::n 
2.the principal, assistant principals, and other assistants while they supervise operation of the school, evaluate staff members, supervise and .....

maintain the records of the school, and coordinate instructional activities. Also Included here would be the activities of department heads and the o' 
::l 

work of clerical staff in support of teaching and administrative duties as well as supervision of instruction services, curriculum development, oJ '"""ltechniques of instruction, child development and understanding, and staff training. Total administration would include the full-time, part-time and 
prorated salaries and allocated benefits of all employees performing the aforementioned activities, both professional and administrative as well as ~ ..... 
amounts paid to non-district personnel performing those services. Benefits are applied as a direct allocation or as a percentage of salaries and ~  

the calculation of that ratio of benefits to total salaries is shown as a separate indicator in this document. Purchased professional services such as >
0­legal services, outside auditors, bond-paying agents, election services, staff relations and negotiation services, curriculum developers, workshop S

presenters, and other consultants are also included in total administration. The district-wide costs for telephone and communication services, 2:including expenses for postage equipment rental and postage are Included here. Total administration includes the cost of forms, office supplies, 
and other supplies use9 to perform these functions. It would also include the rental or lease purchase of equipment related to these services, g
outside workshop fees and the travel of these staff as well as the costs of their dues and fees for membership in professional or other o' 
organizations, including a school board association. ::l 
.... • .. , • - .... •• 0 ••• __•••• .' 

Source: Comparative Spending Guide, 2003, New Jersey Department of Education, as shown 
on Department of Education website, unpaged introductory material. 




